
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Pensions Board 
 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 27 June 2018 
7.00 pm 

Committee Room 3 - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Employer Representatives 

Councillor Bora Kwon 
Councillor Rory Vaughan 
 

Scheme Member Representatives 

Eric Kersey 
Orin Miller 
Neil Newton 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 19 June 2018 
 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Pensions Board 
Agenda 

 
27 June 2018 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR   

 The Board is asked to appoint a Chair and a Vice-Chair for the 2018-19 
Municpial Year. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  4 - 6 

 The meeting held on 7 Feburary 2018 was not quorate but an informal 
briefing session took place. 
 

 

3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 
 

 

5.   MINUTES OF THE PENSIONS SUB COMMITTEE  7 - 16 

 Minutes of the Pensions Sub Committee meetings held on 21 November 
2017 and 27 Feburary 2018. 
 

 



 

6.   LONDON CIV UPDATE  17 

 The Pensions Sub Committee received a presentation from Chris 
Bilsland, a non-executive director at the London CIV (LCIV), who 
discussed the future direction of travel for LCIV as well as providing 
a general update at the February 2018 Pensions Sub Committee 
meeting. 

 

 

7.   LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW  18 - 20 

 This report details the governance review carried out by Willis Towers 
Watson on the London CIV. 
 

 

8.   QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT  21 - 70 

 This report provides an update for the quarter that ended on 31 
December 2017. 
 

 

9.   ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTION PROVIDER 
TRANSITION UPDATE  

71 - 111 

 This report provides an update of the AVC provider, Zurich 
Corporate Savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund Member assets 
to a new platform. 

 

 

10.   LOW CARBON STRATEGY UPDATE  112 - 114 

 This report updates members on the Fund’s current approach to fossil 
fuel investement and any possibilties for divestment in the future. 
 

 

11.   PENSION FUND ADMINISTRATION UPDATE   

 A verbal update will be provded from the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

12.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS   

 The Committee is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

13.   LONDON CIV UPDATE - EXEMPT ELEMENTS   

 This report contains the exempt elements of Item 6. 
 

 

14.   LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW - EXEMPT ELEMENTS   

 This report contains the exempt elements of Item 7.  
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Pensions Board 
Notes of the Meeting 

 
Wednesday 7 February 2018 

 

 
NOTE: This meeting was not quorate but an informal briefing session took place. 
These are the notes of that briefing. 
  
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillor Rory Vaughan 
 
Co-opted members: Orin Miller 

 

Officers: Phil Triggs (Director of Treasury and Pensions), David Coates (HR and 
Payroll), and Amrita Gill (Assistant Committee Coordinator) 
 
 

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes were noted. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ali Hashem, Matt Hopson, Neil 
Netwon and Eric Kersey. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. MINUTES OF PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE  
 
The minutes of the Pensions Sub-Committee were noted. 
 

5. PENSIONS FUND QUARTLEY UPDATE 
 
Phil Triggs (Director of Treasury and Pensions) presented the quarterly update pack 
for the quarter ended 30 September 2017. He noted that over the 12-month period, 
the fund delivered a net return of 8.4%, outperforming the benchmark by 0.1%. The 
fund remained ahead of the benchmark over the three and five-year periods by 2.4% 
p.a and 5.3% p.a, respectively.  
 
The Sub-Committee decided to make a £30m investment to the Aviva’s 
infrastructure income fund which would be funded from the Majedie holdings. This 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

investment, along with the undrawn partners group infrastructure investment, would 
rebalance the fund back to the benchmark weights, once both products had been 
fully drawn down. 
 
Councillor Vaughan, referring to page 59 of the agenda, noted that Risk 18 had a 
particularly high score and asked if there was cause for concern. Phil Triggs said that 
all the mitigating actions were in place and the risk needed to be re-scored to reflect 
that. 
 
Councillor Vaughan, referring to page 55 of the agenda, noted that Risk 9 was out of 
date as the MiFID II process had been completed. He suggested it should be 
removed from the risk register.  
 
Orin Miller noted that the Council needed to notify members of the Local Pensions 
Scheme (LGPS) that there were no risks to the fund following the profit warning 
issued by Interserve. He suggested improving communication by sending out a 
newsletter, reassuring and updating members of their pensions funds. David Coates 
said a newsletter would be sent in April to all members of the Pensions Scheme. 
Furthermore, he reassured members that the Council was the guarantor of the LPGS 
therefore the pension funds were safe. Additionally, scheme members would be 
contacted advising them of the arrangements put into place and reassuring them that 
their contributions were secure. 
 
 

6. PENSION ADMINISTRATION UPDATE  
 
David Coates (HR and Payroll) provided an update of the performance of Surrey 
County Council (SCC) pension administration services to 30 September 2017. In 
September, 79% of helpdesk queries were handled without the need to refer to 
another colleague, which indicated that they were reaching their target. All targets 
apart from the pensioners newsletter had been achieved for annual exercises and 
monthly pensioner payroll. 
 
Day-to-day work had a target of 100%, however projections requests from 
employees had a score of 51% which was not ideal however would expect this to 
improve as the new system allowed employees to run their own projections. SCC 
were also processing monthly BT files for starters, changes, and leavers from April 
2017 therefore the score for deferred benefits would also improve.  
 
Orin Miller asked how often would Pensioners receive a payslip. David Coates said 
that payslips were issued twice a year in March and April and pensioners would also 
be notified if there was a difference in their net pay from the previous month. 
 
David Coates, in reference to page 121 of the agenda, provided an update on the 
inherited Capita backlog performance and noted that there were 138 cases that had 
not yet been brought into payment. These cases were being traced as members 
could not be contacted at their last known address. Tracing services were being 
introduced to identify individuals.  
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

David Coates said that overall, he was satisfied with how SCC had performed. 
Councillor Vaughan thanked David Coates for providing a report on the performance 
and acknowledged the good work and efforts made by SCC. 
 

7. LONDON CIV UPDATE (EXEMPT) 
 
NOTE: While the original item was exempt – the notes below do not contain any 
confidential information. 
 
Phil Triggs (Director of Treasury and Pensions) introduced the report and noted that 
an extensive governance review was carried out by Willis Towers Watson on the 
London Collective investment Vehicle (LCIV). The report highlighted a number of 
issues within the LCIV and made some recommendations for change and 
improvement in LCIV’s governance arrangements and operating model.  
 
He highlighted that the key concern surrounding the engagement of a wide 
stakeholder base with conflicting priorities and managing these different groups to 
achieve joint outcomes. Additionally, the Chief Investment Officer of the London CIV 
Julian Pendock had also left the organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to 
formally begin. The London CIV were reluctant to recruit a replacement until they 
were certain about their strategy going forward.   
 
Phil Triggs said that a meeting would be held with relevant officers and the report 
would be presented at the Pensions Sub Committee for further discussions. 
Councillor Vaughan said that it was good to hear that all relevant officers were taking 
interest and working together to consider the arrangements.  
 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7:00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8:00pm 

 
 
Contact officer Amrita Gill 

Assistant Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Pensions Sub-
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 21 November 2017 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Iain Cassidy (Chair), PJ Murphy, Guy Vincent, 
Michael Adam and Nicholas Botterill 
 
Officers: Matthew Hopson (Strategic Finance Manager, Pensions), Peter Worth 
(Interim Director of Treasury and Pensions), and Amrita Gill (Assistant Committee 
Co-ordinator) 
 
Guests: Alistair Sutherland and Kevin Humperson (Deloittes) 

 
1. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 September 2017 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies of absence were received from Sue Hands (Interim Finance 
Manager, Pensions) 
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor PJ Murphy. 
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Nicholas Botterill. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. DRAFT PENSIONS BOARD MINUTES  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5. QUARTERLY UPDATE  
 
Peter Worth presented the quarterly update report for the quarter that ended 
30 September 2017.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Kevin Humperson, referring to page 17 of the agenda noted that over the 
quarter the total fund underperformed its fixed weight benchmark by 0.1% on 
a net of fees basis. This was largely as a result of the underperformance from 
Ruffer, as well as negative contributions from Insight and Partners Group 
Infrastructure. Over the 12-month period, the fund delivered a net return of 
8.4%, outperforming the benchmark by 0.1%. The fund remained ahead of 
the benchmark over the three and five-year periods and was performing as 
we had expected.  
 
Standard Life Aberdeen had announced their new management team of their 
joint real estate business. This had no impact on the property funds, however 
property transactions were now logged and agreed through a Committee 
under the new regime.  
 
Peter Worth, referring to appendix 3 of the agenda, noted that the forecast 
indicated that there would be sufficient cash available to fund pension 
payments and infrastructure drawdowns until April 2018, however the cash 
flow position would need to be monitored, as Partners Group were only able 
to advise of capital calls up to a month in advance. Councillor Nicholas 
Botterill with reference to the drawdowns on page 47 of the agenda, asked 
what they referred to. Peter Worth noted that these would be taken out of the 
liquidity fund.  
 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill asked how accurate the budgeting was for the 
Council. Matthew Hopson noted that it was fairly accurate, however a new 
cash flow forecast was being piloted in Hammersmith and Fulham to ensure 
further accuracy. 
 
Councillor Michael Adam, referring to page 20 of the agenda, asked how the 
Council would fund the projected annual deficit in 2018. Peter Worth said that 
the Council would need to set aside income from all funds, however wouldn’t 
need to sell the assets. 
 
Peter Worth noted that the risk register had been reviewed in line with the 
standardised approach set out in the current Business Plan. Risk 9 had also 
been included as a new risk factor, namely the possible impact on 
membership. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-committee noted the report. 
 

6. MIFID II AND MEMBER TRAINING  
 
Peter Worth presented the report that provided an update of progress 
regarding opting up applications for professional client status under the 
Markets in Financial Instrument Directive (MIFID II). The key issue arising 
from the opting up application process was the need for member training and 
to be able to demonstrate that this had been provided and taken up. Opting 
up applications had been sent to all investment advisors, investment 
managers and the custodian – the Council was waiting for feedback.  
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Nicholas Botterill asked why this had taken so long. Peter Worth 
said that there was a lot of information to collate and additional information 
was also requested from some fund managers which meant that this was a 
time-consuming process.  
 
Peter Worth noted that the MiFID II update application process had indicated 
the need to revisit existing training arrangements for Sub-Committee 
members – effectively as a form of continuous professional development 
programme.  
 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill said that Councillors were there to bring 
democratic oversight and to exercise their judgement and knowledge. They 
also had extensive experience to ensure that the relevant questions were 
asked and the role of the officers was to supply technical advice and 
guidance. Peter Worth said that there was a statutory requirement that the 
Council needed to demonstrate that relevant training had been provided to 
Councillors.  
 
 
RESOLVED 

1. That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
2. That the Sub-Committee approved the suggested training programme. 

 
7. LONDON CIV UPDATE  

 
Matthew Hopson presented the report and noted that the key items of interest 
for the Sub-Committee was the launch of the new infrastructure and low 
carbon working groups.  Hugh Grover had now left his position as Chief 
Executive of the London CIV and Mark Hyde-Harrison had been appointed 
interim Chief Executive. 
 
Since transitioning to the London CIV, the Pension Fund had paid slightly 
higher fees in absolute terms. The reason for this higher fee was a result of 
switching the fee structure in the Majedie portfolio; the fee structure had 
switched from 35 basis points plus a performance fee; to a flat 60 basis points 
fee. Ruffer had delivered the fee savings expected by the transition to the 
London CIV. This supported the transfer of assets from Majedie to the Ruffer 
Absolute Return fund. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
 

8. INFRASTRUCTURE TRANSITION UPDATE  
 
Matthew Hopson presented the report and noted that the Sub Committee had 
already taken the decision to transfer £30m from the Majedie Focus Fund to 
Aviva Infrastructure Income Fund (AIIF) due to an overweight position in 
equities and a desire to move into infrastructure. The documentation and 
contracts had now been reviewed by all parties and were signed week 
commencing 6 November 2017. Since the 19 September 2017 AIIF had 
experienced significant queuing of funds for deployments in recent months 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

and it was anticipated that the Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund 
would be unable to draw down on the existing commitment for 9-12 months. 
To mitigate the short-term exposure risk, it would be prudent to transfer the 
£30m commitment to Ruffer until required from drawn down and there were 
no additional transaction costs for doing so. 
 
Councillor Michael Adam asked if the queue had grown since September and 
why a decision wasn’t made sooner to avoid delay in the transfer process. 
Peter Worth said that the queue had grown and a Pensions Sub-Committee 
meeting was required in accordance to the Council’s constitution to make a 
formal decision. Councillor Michael Adam asked for the constitution to be 
reviewed and feedback to be provided. 

Action: Peter Worth/ Amrita Gill 
 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee recommended the divestment of 30m from Majedie 
Focus Fund and transfer to the Ruffer absolute return fund while Aviva draws 
down its commitment.  
 

9. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting was scheduled for 27 February 2018. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7:00pm 
Meeting ended: 8:05pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Amrita Gill 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Pensions Sub-
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 27 February 2018 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Iain Cassidy (Chair), PJ Murphy, Guy Vincent, 
Michael Adam and Nicholas Botterill  
 

Officers: Matthew Hopson (Strategic Finance Manager, Pensions), Phil Triggs 
(Director of Treasury and Pensions), Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Finance Director) 
and Amrita Gill (Assistant Committee Co-ordinator) 
 
Guests: Alistair Sutherland and Kevin Humperson (Deloittes) and Chris Bilsland 
(London CIV) 

 

 

 

 

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2017 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies of absence were received from Sue Hands (Interim Finance 
Manager, Pensions) 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. DRAFT PENSIONS BOARD MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 February were noted. 
 

5. LONDON CIV UPDATE  
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Chris Bilsland a non-executive director at the London CIV (LCIV), gave a 
presentation outlining three key areas which covered an operational and 
responsible investing update. Additionally, he showed slides that noted the 
future direction of travel of LCIV. Following a governance review that was 
commissioned from Willis Towers Watson by the London Local Authorities 
(LLAs) it was indicated a need for LCIV to change its governance 
arrangements and clarify its purpose and future strategy. A consultation 
process was therefore key to ensuring that the proposals were appropriate for 
London. The key steps in the consultation process were outlined. Additionally, 
the Chief Investment Officer of LCIV, Julian Pendock, had also left the 
organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to formally begin, pending 
the conclusion of the consultation process.  
 
Councillor Michael Adam noted that he felt that LCIV was helpful for products 
such as UK and global equities as it had allowed the Council to retain 
investment managers and make tactical decisions around asset allocations 
accordingly. He said that if the Council had opted for the blended fund 
approach it would lose discretion for manager selection. This was an area of 
concern particularly as LCIV had not demonstrated experience in this area. 
 
Chris Bilsland explained that the Council would still have a choice in 
appointing new managers.  However, once a new manager was selected to 
the platform it would be LCIV’s responsibility to make tactical changes to the 
fund allocation to ensure a maximum return. In the long term the Council 
would be able to see if the segregation of assets was beneficial via the 
blended funds approach.  
 
Councillor PJ Murphy noted that the major concern was that LCIV lacked any 
clear business strategy over the short/medium and long term. Additionally, he 
questioned why LCIV had considered blending funds as an option as they 
currently didn’t have experience in this area. He asked if LCIV would be 
paying private sector salaries throughout the organisation to match the 
salaries offered by their private sector competitors. Chris Bilsland said that 
the chief executive salary may set the salary for the company, but the 
company was still exploring and developing its remuneration strategy. It may 
be necessary to pay market salaries.  However, with the advantage that some 
professionals would want to give back to society and were prepared to work 
for less than market remuneration. Furthermore, the LCIV were reluctant to 
recruit a permanent chief executive and chief investment officer until they 
were certain about their future strategy.  
 
Councillor Guy Vincent asked what the current net asset value of LCIV was. 
Chris Bilsland said that he didn’t have this information to hand and would feed 
back to the Committee. Councillor Guy Vincent asked if the Council had 
recourse against poor decisions made by LCIV. He added that the Sub 
Committee had a primary fiduciary responsibility for pension funds and asked 
whether we were at risk of giving up control of the fund to LCIV but retaining 
responsibility if something went wrong.  
 
Chris Bilsland said there was some element of risk there but LCIV had the 
resources to put together a fund management team that would constantly 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

monitor the fund and take necessary action. There was no guarantee that 
anything would ever go wrong however LCIV would need to work in 
collaboration with the Council to mitigate these risks. Furthermore, LCIV had 
full budget to recruit 24 members of staff and a search process would be used 
to appoint a permanent chief executive. 
 
Councillor PJ Murphy said that he was not satisfied with the answers provided 
by the LCIV as they didn’t offer any reassurances. Additionally, LCIV lacked 
resources and with no clear long-term business strategy in place it was 
evident that they would need to address the fundamental issues. Questions 
were raised over the performance of the non-executive directors.  
 
Chris Bilsland explained that LCIV was under funded and resourced. There 
wasn’t a clear business strategy in place and engagement across other 
London boroughs needed to be improved.  However, the consultation process 
would address the key issues going forward. 
 
The Chair asked why LCIV had fewer staff in comparison to other pools. Chris 
Bilsland explained that this was because former Local Authority staff had 
transferred over to the other pools, which meant that they had inherited staff.  
 
Councillor Guy Vincent asked for a letter in writing highlighting all the issues 
discussed at the meeting to understand the risks involved. Councillor PJ 
Murphy asked who made the final decision on the completion dates for the 
consultation process. Chris Bilsland noted these were agreed by London 
Council Leaders for completion before the elections. 
 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill said that there was clearly a structural flaw and 
the direction of travel was uncertain. Therefore, he was reluctant to hand over 
the decision-making process to LCIV. The Committee agreed that if the 
Council gave up some degree of sovereignty in relation to the management of 
its pension fund, then the governance of LCIV needed to be as robust and as 
democratic as possible. There also needed to be a clear way for boroughs to 
have genuine input into the decisions being taken by LCIV. There was a risk 
that by enforcing the blended approach, assets may not be managed 
optimally. The Committee needed to ensure that LCIV delivered what was 
considered important and basic groundwork needed to be completed to make 
LCIV fit for purpose.  
 
Hitesh Jolapara suggested that the Council should include a covering letter 
highlighting the areas of concerns and make recommendations as part of the 
response of the consultation. The Committee agreed and noted that the 
consultation also needed to be amended to reflect the key concerns 
discussed at the meeting.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-committee noted the update 
 
 
 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

6. LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW  
 
NOTE: This item was discussed in conjunction with Item 5 (London CIV 
Update), please see item 5 for points raised by Councillors. 
 
Phil Triggs introduced the report and informed the Committee of the extensive 
governance review carried out by Willis Towers Watson on LCIV. The 
governance review highlighted several significant concerns and made a 
number of recommendations. He highlighted that the key concern was 
surrounding the engagement of a wide stakeholder base with conflicting 
priorities and managing these different groups to achieve joint outcome. 
There was a fundamental issue with the cost recovery model which was 
leaving LCIV underfunded and under resourced, especially in client relations 
and secretarial. 
 
Additionally, the Chief Investment Officer of the London CIV Julian Pendock 
has also left the organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to formally 
begin. The London CIV were reluctant to recruit a replacement until they were 
certain about their strategy going forward.   
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-committee noted the update 
 
 

7. QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT  
 
Matthew Hopson presented the report for the quarter that ended 31 
December 2017 and noted that the risk register remained unchanged. The 
Chair noted that risk 14 (LCIV governance) needed to be reviewed and 
recommend that the rating to be increased to high.  
 
Kevin Humperson said that over the quarter, the total fund underperformed its 
fixed benchmark by 0.5% on a net of fees basis. He noted that Deloittes 
continued to rate Aviva investors positively for its infrastructure capabilities. 
Aviva had a strong pipeline, with c. £30m of capital with guaranteed 
deployment to the Fund’s existing project and c. £580m of priority pipeline 
across new projects.  Aviva expected to draw down the queue over the 
course of the year, estimating that it could draw down on this fund’s 
commitment as early as the second quarter.  
 
The Committee asked if there had been any savings following the Aberdeen 
and Standard life merger. Kevin Humperson said since the two businesses 
merged, Aberdeen Standard Investments (ASI) had put in place a formalised 
process where all potential transactions were reviewed and an ‘allocation 
policy’ applied where interest was expressed in the investment by more than 
one fund/ client portfolio. He said it was a great value creation bringing these 
businesses together and Deloitte continued to monitor ASI post-merger with 
the organisation currently during the integration.  
 
The Committee asked if the Council’s equality portfolio was protected against 
market fall. Kevin Humperson said that the Council was unprotected but there 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

was an opportunity to look at hedging some of the investment risks if 
required. Officers were asked to review the Council’s equity strategy and 
present it at the next meeting for wider discussions around the implications on 
funding levels.  

   Action: Matthew Hopson/ Phil Triggs 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
 

8. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS PROVIDER TRANSITION 
UPDATE  
 
Matthew Hopson introduced the report and noted an update of the AVC 
provider, Zurich Corporate savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of the 
Council’s pensions fund member assets to a new platform. The transition 
aimed to provide members with a better service by utilising an online platform 
where members could check their benefits and receive up to date information.  
 
Referring to page 36 of the agenda, Councillor Guy Vincent asked for further 
clarification to be sought on who they referred to as the ‘Trustees’ before the 
service agreement could be signed.  

Action: Matthew Hopson 
 

RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
 

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
RESOLVED 
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the 
following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

10. LONDON CIV UPDATE - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  
 
The exempt elements of the report were noted. 
 

11. LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  
 
The exempt elements of the report were noted. 
 
 

12. LOW CARBON STRATEGY UPDATE  
 
Matthew Hopson presented the report and noted that the paper updated the 
Committee on the funds current approach to fossil fuel investment and any 
possibilities of divestment in the future. 
 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Guy Vincent asked for an options analysis to be included in the 
report for engagement and asked how much would the fossil fuel investment 
cost. Matthew Hopson said that the membership would cost approximately 
£15,000 per annum. (this subsequently has been found to be £9k per 
annum). 
 
The Committee asked how many London Boroughs had signed up to the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). Matthew Hopson said that 73 
out of 89 funds had opted for this option. In additional they had a considerable 
portfolio of success and looked on favourably by administrative authorities. 
The LAPFF had been recognised as one of the most influential UK investor 
groups due to its commitment to responsible and robust engagement.  
 
Phil Triggs noted that the London Borough of Southwark was one of the first 
LGPS funds to make such a commitment and placed the fund at the forefront 
of sustainable fossil fuel aware investment. He explained that a decision must 
be based on investment factors and that it was not a risk-free process 
therefore consideration needed to be placed on this.  
 
RESOLVED 
a) That the Sub Committee approved the Pension fund signing up to become 
a member of the LAPFF 
 
b) That the Sub Committee approved a reduced fossil fuel exposure plan to 
be drafted along with the next investment strategy review in consultation with 
the fund’s investment consultant.  
 
c) That the Sub Committee noted the pension funds current approach to fossil 
fuel investing. 
 
 

Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.45 pm 

 
  
  

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Amrita Gill 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 16



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

PENSIONS BOARD 
 

27 JUNE 2018 

LONDON CIV UPDATE 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director – Hitesh Jolapara 

Part Exempt Report 
An exempt appendix to this report can be found in the exempt agenda. 

Classification: For Information 
Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 

Report Author: 
Miriam Adams, Strategic Finance Manger 
– Treasury and Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4176 
E-mail: madams@westminster.gov.uk 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The Pensions Sub Committee received a presentation (attached as 
confidential Appendix1) from Chris Bilsland, a non-executive director at the 
London CIV (LCIV), who discussed the future direction of travel for LCIV 
as well as providing a general update at the February 2018 Pensions Sub 
Committee meeting. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the update as presented to the 

Pensions Sub Committee. 
 

3. PRESENTATION 
 

3.1 The presentation covered three key areas: 
 LCIV operational update 
 Responsible investing 
 Future direction of travel 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 - LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED 
IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
None. 

 
Appendices: Appendix 1: London CIV Presentation (Exempt) 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

PENSIONS BOARD 
 

27 JUNE 2018 

LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director – Hitesh Jolapara 

Part Exempt Report 
The confidential elements of this report can be found in the exempt agenda. 

Classification: For Information 
Key Decision: No                       

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Finance Manger – Treasury and Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report informs the Committee of the extensive governance review carried 
out by Willis Towers Watson (attached as exempt appendix 1) on the London 
CIV (LCIV). 

 
1.2 The report highlights a number of issues within LCIV which are discussed in 

section 3. 
 

1.3 The Report also makes a number of recommendations for change and 
improvement in LCIV’s governance arrangements and operating model 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the update. 

 
3 GOVERNANCE REVIEW – KEY POINTS 

 
3.1 It should be noted that the governance review highlights several significant 

concerns and makes a number of key recommendations. 
 

3.2 The key concern surrounds the engagement of a wide stakeholder base with 
conflicting priorities and managing these different groups in order to achieve 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

mailto:mhopson@westminster.gov.uk


joint outcomes.  The Investment Advisory Committee (IAC) and the Joint 
Committee are not perceived to be operating optimally in their current forms. 

 
3.3 There is also a perceived lack of transparency from LCIV in a number of 

areas, with particular concern in relation to manager selection. 
 
3.4 There is a fundamental issue with the cost recovery model which is leaving 

LCIV underfunded and under resourced, especially in client relations and 
secretariat. 

 
3.5 Formal arrangements for submitting priorities from each local authority would 

assist in holding LCIV to account, but this does not happen in this way and 
are only submitted ad hoc or not at all. 

 
3.6 The Chief Investment Officer of LCIV, Julian Pendock, has now left the 

organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to formally begin. 
 
4 GOVERNANCE REVIEW – KEY RECOMMENDATIONS 

Key Recommendations 

4.1 The 5 Key recommendations are listed below: 
 

 Establish and agree a more concise and narrowly defined set of 
statements of purpose, for LCIV, the Pension Sectoral Joint Committee 
(PSJC) and the IAC in particular. This is an absolute priority. 
Consistent and focused communication, with clear linkages with 
business planning and strategy, of this set of purposes is vital for them 
to be effectively embedded in practice. 

 

 The committee meeting cycle should be reviewed, reducing the number 
of full committee meetings and making greater use of sub-committees 
and working groups. Each committee should be focused on a clearly 
defined set of objectives within accompanying measures. The Terms of 
Reference of the stakeholder committees (PSJC and IAC or 
replacement equivalents) require concurrent redrafting. 

 

 A well-resourced Secretariat function is required to support the various 
committees and governance bodies. This should likely come from 
LCIV, recognising that this needs to be appropriately funded. 

 

 There needs to be a recognition of the importance of transparency and 
cultivating trust, and a clear cultural and strategic shift to embedding 
this at the heart of LCIV pooling arrangements. LCIV and its 
stakeholders should take this opportunity to reset their relationship. The 
client portal offers an excellent mechanism for efficient, open and 
comprehensive information sharing – it should be set up as a ‘one-stop 
shop’ to distribute LCIV information to stakeholders, and in turn fully 
utilised by stakeholders to gather the information they require. 

Page 19



Additional Recommendations 
 
4.2 The Report also laid out five supplementary recommendations below: 

 

 A useful mechanism for stakeholders to express clearly to LCIV their 
priorities, concerns and key measures of interest would be an annual 
‘Letter of Expectations’. The PSJC (or similar replacement body) would 
be the most appropriate vehicle for delivering this. 

 

 The Terms of Reference for the key stakeholders’ committees and 
working groups are significantly below those of good practice 
investment organisations. There are issues over comprehensiveness 
as well as over clarity of purpose and scope of responsibilities which 
need to be remedied. 

 

 LCIV needs to invest significantly in improving its database 
(quantitative knowledge) and understanding (qualitative knowledge) of 
the London Local Authority funds. This has systems and resourcing 
(particularly in the Client Relationships function) implications. 

 

 Reporting to stakeholders should be more streamlined and focused, 
bringing out strategic KPIs and measures of success. 

 

 It seems appropriate at this stage to move away from the London 
Councils’ governance model, with its associated constraints (including 
some political separations). 

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

None. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1: London CIV Governance Review (Exempt) 

Page 20



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

PENSIONS BOARD 

27 JUNE 2018 

PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE PACK  

Report of the Strategic Finance Director – Hitesh Jolapara 

Open Report  

  Classification: For Information 
  Key Decision: No 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Wards Affected: None  

Accountable Director: Phil Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 

Report Author: Sue Hands, Interim Finance Contact Details: 
Manager - Pensions Tel: 0207 641 4331 

E-mail: shands@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report is the Pension Fund quarterly update pack for the 
quarter ended 31st December 2017. The scorecard in Appendix 1 
provides a high-level view of key pensions issues with more detail 
provided in the remaining appendices. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the report is noted. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. Not applicable. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES 

 
4.1. This report and associated appendices make up the pack for the 

quarter ended 31st December 2017. It is designed to provide the 
Committee members with a high level view of key pensions issues 
in the scorecard (see Appendix 1) with more detailed information in 
the remaining appendices. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

mailto:shands@westminster.gov.uk


4.2. There are no administration indicators in the scorecard, as they are not yet 
available. 

 
4.3. Appendix 2 provides information about the Fund’s investments and 

performance. Kevin Humpherson from Deloitte attended the Pensions 
Sub Committee to present this report. 

 
4.4. The actual cashflow for the period October to December 2017 and the 

forecast up to September 2018 are shown in Appendix 3. An analysis of the 
differences between the actuals and the forecast for the quarter are also 
shown, as well as an additional analysis of the invested cash in the LGIM 
Sterling Liquidity fund. 

 

4.5. Appendix 4 shows the Pensions Fund Risk Register, there have been no 
changes this quarter. 

 
4.6. A summary of the voting undertaken by the investment managers running 

segregated equity portfolios forms Appendix 5, this now also includes both the 
Majedie and LGIM Global data. 

 

4.7. Appendix 6 gives an update on the Forward Plan as at 31 December 2017. 

 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 

 
Appendix 1:  Scorecard at 31st December 2017 

Appendix 2:  Deloitte quarterly report for quarter ended 31st December 2017 (This 
report will be tabled at the meeting) 

Appendix 3:  Cashflow monitoring 

Appendix 4:  Pension Fund Risk Register 

Appendix 5:  Pension Fund Voting Summary 

Appendix 6:  Pensions Board Forward Plan 

Page 22



Appendix 1: Scorecard at 31st December 2017 
 

HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM PENSION FUND QUARTERLY MONITORING 
 

  
Mar 17 

 
Jun 17 

 
Sep 17 

 
Dec 17 

Comment/ 

Report 

Ref if applicable 

 

Value (£m) 1,002.6 1,001.3 1,011.9 - 
Deloitte report not 

yet available 

% return quarter 2.6% 0.1% 0.1% -  

% return 1 year 18.2% 13.4% 8.4% -  

LIABILITIES 

Value (£m) 1,076.3 1,074.8 1,074.3 1,084.9  

Deficit (£m) 72.6 59.6 55.5 64.8 

Funding Level 93% 94% 95% 94% 

MEMBERSHIP 

Active members 4,136 4,356 4,356 4,228  

Deferred 

beneficiaries 
5,785 5,753 5,753 5,687 

Pensioners 4,758 4,842 4,842 4,909 

Employers 41 41 41 41 

CASHFLOW 

Cash balance £2.8m £2.5m £5.0m £1.3m  
Appendix 3 Variance from 

forecast 
£1.2m (£4.5m) (£0.8m) (0.5m) 

RISK 

No. of new risks n/a 0 0 0  

Appendix 4 – New 

Risk Register No. of ratings 

changed 
n/a 1 0 0 

VOTING 

No. of resolutions 

voted on by fund 

managers 

 
5,716 

 
32,183 

 
5,282 

 
4,732 

Appendix 5 – LGIM 

& Majedie this 

quarter 

LGPS REGULATIONS 

New 

consultations 
None None None None 

 

N/A 
New sets of 
regulations 

None None None None 

 

Page 23



 

 

   

  

London Borough of Hammersmith 

& Fulham Pension Fund 

Investment Performance Report to 31 

December 2017 
Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited 
February 2018 

 

Page 24



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

2  
 

Contents 

 

1 Market Background 3 

2 Performance Overview 4 

3 Total Fund 5 

4 Summary of Manager Ratings 9 

5 London CIV 13 

6 Majedie – UK Equity 14 

7 Legal and General – Global Equity 16 

8 Ruffer – Absolute Return 17 

9 Insight – Bonds Plus 18 

10 Partners Group – Multi Asset Credit 19 

11 Oak Hill Advisors – Diversified Credit Strategies Fund 21 

12 Partners Group – Direct Infrastructure 22 

13 M&G – Inflation Opportunities 24 

14 Aberdeen Standard Investments – Long Lease Property 25 

Appendix 1 – Fund and Manager Benchmarks 27 

Appendix 2 – Manager Ratings 28 

Appendix 3 – eVestment Attribution 29 

Appendix 4 – Risk warnings & Disclosures 31 

 

 

Page 25



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

3  
 

1 Market Background 

1.1 Three months and twelve months to 31 December 2017 

The UK equity market had a strong fourth quarter of 2017, with the FTSE All Share Index returning 5.0%, helped 

by rising oil prices and the continued strength of the global economy. The majority of these gains occurred in 

December, with the Index posting positive returns of 4.8%. 

Large UK companies slightly outperformed smaller companies over the quarter but both generated significant 

returns with the FTSE 100 Index returning 5.0% while the FTSE Small Cap Index returned 4.2%. At a sector level, 

there was more of a dispersion in returns: Basic Materials (11.1%), Oil & Gas (9.7%) and Technology (8.8%) 

made substantial gains, while Utilities (-7.9%) and Health Care (-2.4%) suffered losses. 

Global equity markets outperformed UK equities in local currency terms (5.4%) as well as sterling terms (5.1%) 

with the UK’s economic prospects continuing to lag the strong macroeconomic environment globally given the 

continued uncertainty over Brexit. Sterling strengthened slightly over the quarter, with currency hedging therefore 

benefitting investors. All geographic regions delivered positive returns in local currency terms: Japan (8.9%) was 

the best performing region in local terms, with Europe ex-UK (0.4%) being the poorest performing region outside 

the UK, in local currency terms, dampened by concerns around political issues in Germany and Spain and in spite 

of strong economic growth in the region. 

Nominal gilt yields fell over the fourth quarter as a whole, with the market anticipating that future rate rises might 

proceed at a slower pace than previously expected. The All Stocks Gilts Index delivered a positive return of 2.0% 

over the quarter. Real yields also decreased over the quarter, reflecting the falls in nominal yields with inflation 

expectations broadly unchanged. Index-linked gilts also performed positively with the Over 5 Year Index-Linked 

Gilts Index returning 3.9% over the period. Credit spreads were broadly unchanged over the fourth quarter; the 

iBoxx All Stocks Non Gilt Index delivered a positive return of 1.8% in line with the broader move in gilt yields. 

Over the 12 months to 31 December 2017, the FTSE All Share Index delivered a positive return of 13.1%, helped 

by an increasingly positive global economic picture and increases in the price of oil. Basic Materials (25.0%) was 

the best performing sector while Utilities (-14.8%) was the poorest. The increasing uncertainty caused by Brexit 

continued to weigh on UK equities however, with all global markets generating superior returns in local currency 

terms over the period. The strengthening of sterling over the period suggests that currency hedging has been 

beneficial. 

UK nominal gilts delivered positive returns over the 12 months to 31 December 2017, with the All Stocks Gilts 

Index returning 1.8% and the Over 15 year Gilts Index returning 3.3%. UK index-linked gilts also delivered 

positive returns over the same period, with the Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts Index returning 2.5%. Credit 

spreads narrowed over the year to 31 December 2017 by around 18bps. Consequently, corporate bonds 

outperformed equivalent gilts with the iBoxx All Stocks Non Gilt Index delivering a return of 4.3%. 

The IPD UK Monthly Property Index returned 3.4% over the quarter and 11.2% over the year to 31 December 

2017. The search for yield has contributed to the increased demand for UK property, which is still viewed as a 

“safe haven” by some overseas investors - foreign demand remains strong despite the uncertainty surrounding 

Brexit with the London market benefiting. 

5.0 5.1

5.7 5.6

0.5

7.9
7.5

6.1

2.0

3.6
3.9

1.8

3.4

5.4

6.6 6.5

0.4

8.9

6.8

6.1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 %

3 months 31 December 2017

Equities (Sterling) Equities (Local) Bonds Property

13.1 13.8

11.5 11.3

16.9

14.4

23.4

21.1

1.8
3.3 2.5

4.3

11.2

19.7

22.1
21.4

14.9

21.0

28.0 27.4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 %

12 months to 31 December 2017

Equities (Sterling) Equities (Local) Bonds Property

Page 26



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

4  
 

2 Performance Overview 
2.1 Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

Breakdown of Fund Performance by Manager as at 31 Dec 2017 3 

month 

(%) 

1 

year  

 (%) 

2 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

3 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

5 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

Fund Manager 

Equity Mandate        
  Majedie 1.7 4.9 13.1 8.5 12.0 

FTSE All Share 
 

4.9 12.9 14.7 9.9 10.2 

Difference 
 

-3.2 -8.0 -1.6 -1.4 1.8 

  LGIM Global Equity 

Mandate 

5.1 13.7 20.8 n/a n/a 

FTSE All World 
 

5.1 13.8 20.9 n/a n/a 

Difference 
 

0.0 -0.1 -0.1 n/a n/a 

Dynamic Asset Allocation Mandates 
      

  Ruffer 2.9 0.5 6.4 4.9 6.3 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a. 
 

1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.5 

Difference 
 

1.8 -3.8 2.0 0.5 1.8 

  Insight 0.3 -0.2 1.0 n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 2% p.a. 
 

0.6 2.4 2.4 n/a n/a 

Difference 
 

-0.3 -2.5 -1.4 n/a n/a 

Private Equity 
      

  Invesco 7.2 -1.6 12.1 14.3 16.5 

  Unicapital  -0.2 7.9 11.7 9.6 8.0 

Secure Income 
      

  Partners Group MAC 0.3 4.4 5.8 n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a.  1.1 4.4 4.4 n/a n/a 

Difference  -0.8 0.0 1.4 n/a n/a 

  Oak Hill Advisors 0.2 3.7 7.9 n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a.  1.1 4.4 4.4 n/a n/a 

Difference  -0.9 -0.6 3.5 n/a n/a 

 Partners Group Infra 

Infrastructure 

-0.5 -5.0 n/a n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 8% p.a.  2.1 8.4 n/a n/a n/a 

Difference  -2.5 -13.3 n/a n/a n/a 

Inflation Protection 
   

 
  

  M&G 2.1 7.2 12.8 n/a n/a 

RPI + 2.5% p.a.  1.7 6.6 5.8 n/a n/a 

Difference  0.4 0.6 7.0 n/a n/a 

  Aberdeen Standard 2.8 11.0 8.0 n/a n/a 

FT British Government All Stocks 

Index +2.0% 

 2.4 3.8 7.9 n/a n/a 

Difference  0.4 7.1 0.1 n/a n/a 

Total Fund  
 

2.5 6.7 11.7 8.5 10.4 

Benchmark* 
 

3.0 8.6 10.6 8.3 6.1 

Difference 
 

-0.5 -1.9 1.0 0.2 4.4 

Northern Trust Benchmark  3.0 8.8 n/a 8.0 8.5 
Source: Northern Trust (Custodian). Figures are quoted net of fees and estimated by Deloitte. Differences may not tie due to rounding. 

 (*) The Total Assets benchmark is the weighted average performance of the target asset allocation.  

Page 27



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

5  
 

3 Total Fund 

3.1 Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not sum due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

(2) Average weighted benchmark 

 

Over the quarter, the Total Fund underperformed its fixed weight benchmark by 0.5% on a net of fees basis.  

Over the 12 month period, the Fund delivered a net return of 6.7%, underperforming the benchmark by 1.9%. 

However the Fund remains ahead of the benchmark over the three and five year periods by 0.2% p.a. and 

4.4% p.a. respectively. 

The chart below compares the net performance of the Fund relative to the fixed weight benchmark over the 

three years to 31 December 2017, highlighting the strong relative returns in early 2015 – much of which can be 

attributed to the outperformance achieved by Majedie. Despite the Fund delivering positive relative returns in 

all four quarters of 2016, with the third and fourth quarter being particularly strong, the rolling 3 year returns 

are likely to decline as the impact of Q1 2015 drops out of the calculations. The Fund delivered negative returns 

over all four quarters of 2017, much of which can be attributed to underperformance by Majedie.  

 

 

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

%
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 fr
om

 b
en

ch
m

ar
k

Total Fund Performance - last three years

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

 Last 

Quarter 

(%) 

One 

Year 

(%) 

Two 

Years 

(% p.a.) 

Three 

Years    

(% p.a.) 

Five 

Years  

(% p.a.) 

Total Fund  – Gross of fees 2.6 7.1 12.1 9.0 10.8 

Net of fees(1) 2.5 6.7 11.7 8.5 10.4 

Benchmark(2) 3.0 8.6 10.6 8.3 6.1 

Net performance relative to 

benchmark 

-0.5 -1.9 1.0 0.2 4.4 

Page 28



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

6  
 

3.2 Attribution of Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On a net of fees performance basis, the Fund underperformed the composite benchmark by 0.5% over the 

fourth quarter of 2017, largely as a result of underperformance from Majedie, as well as negative contributions 

from Partners Group MAC and Oak Hill Advisors.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Over the year the Fund underperformed the composite benchmark by 1.9% as a result of negative 

contributions from Majedie, Ruffer and Insight. The positive contribution shown by the “AA/Timing” bar was 

primarily a function of the Fund having an overweight allocation to equities.  

-1.91%

-0.04%

-0.40%

-0.21%

-0.01%

0.03% 0.00%

-0.08% -0.04%

0.06%

0.35% 0.36%

-1.89%

-2.5%

-2.0%

-1.5%

-1.0%

-0.5%

0.0%

0.5%

R
e
la

ti
v
e
 C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 t
o

 T
o

ta
l 
F
u

n
d

 P
e
r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e
 

Relative Contributions to Total Fund Performance - Annual

-0.71%

-0.01%

0.19%

-0.03%

0.05%

0.00%
-0.04%

-0.02%

-0.06%

0.04%
0.02%

0.13%

-0.47%

-0.8%

-0.7%

-0.6%

-0.5%

-0.4%

-0.3%

-0.2%

-0.1%

0.0%

0.1%

0.2%

0.3%

R
e
la

ti
v
e
 C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 t
o

 T
o
ta

l 
F
u

n
d

 P
e
r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e
 

Relative Contributions to Total Fund Performance - Quarter

Page 29



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

7  
 

3.3 Asset Allocation  

The table below shows the assets held by each manager as at 31 December 2017 alongside the Target Benchmark 

Allocation. 

  Actual Asset Allocation  

Manager Asset Class 30 Sept 

2017 

(£m) 

31 Dec 

2017 

(£m) 

30 Sept 

2017 

(%) 

31 Dec 

2017 

(%) 

Benchmark 

Allocation (%) 

Majedie UK Equity (Active) 228.0 169.6 22.5 16.4 15.0 

LGIM Global Equity 

(passive) 

301.8 317.1 29.8 30.7 30.0 

  Total Equity 529.8 486.7 52.4 47.1 45.0 

Ruffer Absolute Return 99.9 162.7 9.9 15.7 10.0 

Insight Bonds Plus 88.8 89.2 8.8 8.6 10.0 

  Total Dynamic 

Asset Allocation 

188.7 251.9 18.6 24.4 20.0 

Invesco Private Equity 4.8 4.2 0.5 0.4 0.0 

Unicapital Private Equity 2.7 2.2 0.3 0.2 0.0 

  Total Private 

Equity 

7.5 6.4 0.7 0.6 0.0 

Partners 

Group 

Multi Asset Credit 52.9 48.3 5.2 4.7 5.0 

Oak Hill 

Advisors 

Diversified Credit 

Strategy 

72.0 72.2 7.1 7.0 7.0 

Partners 

Group 

Direct 

Infrastructure 

4.1 7.1 0.4 0.7 5.0 

Aviva Infrastructure 

Income 

- - - - 3.0 

 Secure Income 129.0 127.6 12.7 12.4 20.0 

M&G Inflation 

Opportunities 

96.5 98.5 9.5 9.5 10.0 

Aberdeen 

Standard 

Investments 

Long Lease 

Property 

49.6 51.1 4.9 4.9 5.0 

 Total Inflation 

Protection 

146.1 149.6 14.4 14.4 15.0 

LGIM Liquidity Fund 10.8 10.9 1.1 1.1 0.0 

 Total 1,011.9 1,033.1 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Source: Northern Trust (Custodian) and have not been independently verified 

Figures may not sum to total due to rounding 

 

The decision was taken last year to make a £30m investment to Aviva’s Infrastructure Income Fund, funded 

from the Fund’s Majedie holdings. In December, £60m was disinvested from Majedie’s Focus Fund and invested 

with Ruffer, reducing the overweight allocation to equity. The strategic benchmark within the equity portfolio 

was then changed to 67% LGIM, 33% Majedie (from 50%/50%) as a result of this. 

The additional £60m invested with Rufer is partly to be used to fund capital calls for the Partners Group 

Infrastructure (c. £30m) as well as funding the new Aviva Infrastructure allocation (c. £30m) as and when both 

are drawn down. The Sub-Committee felt Ruffer was a more appropriate place than Majedie to hold this 

allocation temporarily given the expected volatility of equity markets. 

Page 30



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

8  
 

 

3.4 Yield Analysis as at 31 December 2017 

 

The following table shows the running yield on the Fund’s investments: 

Manager Asset Class Yield as at 31 December 2017 

Majedie UK Equity 3.28% 

LGIM Global Equity 0.22%* 

Ruffer Dynamic Asset Allocation 1.50% 

Insight  Dynamic Asset Allocation 3.37% 

Partners Group MAC Secure Income 3.68% 

Oak Hill Advisors Secure Income 5.40% 

M&G Inflation Protection 2.74% 

Aberdeen Standard Investments Inflation Protection 4.14% 

  Total 2.15% 

*Represents yield available from NDIP. Benchmark yield was 2.3%. 

Page 31



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

9  
 

4 Summary of Manager Ratings 
The table below summarises Deloitte’s ratings of the managers employed by the Fund and triggers against 

which managers should be reviewed. 

Manager Mandate Triggers for Review Rating 

Majedie UK Equity Further turnover within the core investment team  

Re-opening the UK equity products with no clear limits on the 

value of assets that they would take on 

1 

 

LGIM Global Equities Major deviation from the benchmark return 

Significant loss of assets under management 

1 

Ruffer Absolute Return Departure of either of the co-portfolio managers from the 

business 

Any significant change in ownership structure 

1 

Insight Bonds Plus A significant increase or decrease to the assets under 

management with no set limits 

Significant changes to the team managing the Fund 

1 

Partners 

Group 

Multi Asset 

Credit 

Significant changes to the investment team responsible for 

the Fund 

*Note the mandate is subject to a 7 year lock-up period 

1 

Direct 

Infrastructure 

Significant changes to the investment team responsible for 

the Fund. 

*Note the mandate is subject to a 10 year lock-up period 

1 

Oak Hill 

Partners 

Diversified 

Credit Strategy 

Significant changes to the investment team responsible for 

the Fund. 

Significant changes to the liquidity of underlying holdings 

within the Fund. 

1 

M&G  Inflation 

Opportunities 

If the Fund’s portfolio manager Gary Parker was to leave the 

business or cease to be actively involved in the Fund, this 

would trigger a review of the Fund. 

Failure to find suitable investments within the initial two year 

funding period. 

1 

Aberdeen 

Standard 

Investme

nts 

Long Lease 

Property 

Richard Marshall leaving the business or ceasing to be 

actively involved in the Fund without having gone through an 

appropriate hand-over. 

A build up within the Fund of holdings with remaining lease 

lengths around 10 years. 

1 

4.1 London CIV  

Business 

As at 31 December 2017, the London CIV had 10 sub-funds and assets under management of £6,336m, an 

increase of c. £800m over the quarter, with one new sub-fund added (Epoch Investment Partners Global 

Equity), one new investor being added to the Pyrford sub-fund and the Baillie Gifford sub-fund and three 

investors being added to the Ruffer sub-fund. 

Personnel 

Over the quarter it was announced that Hugh Grover, CEO of the London CIV, had resigned from his role and 

that Mark Hyde-Harrison, former chief of the Barclays UK Retirement Fund and current head of defined 

contribution strategy at Willis Towers Watson, would step in as interim CEO while a permanent replacement is 

sought. 

Post quarter end it was announced that Julian Pendock, CIO of the London CIV, had resigned from his role.  

Deloitte view – We view the recent departures as significant losses to the London CIV both in terms of their 

position of seniority as well as the fact that both have been involved since the CIV’s establishment in 2015. It is 

crucial that steps are taken to rebuild the senior management team and an appropriate strategy agreed for 

taking the pool forward, getting “buy-in” from the shareholders. 

Page 32



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

10  
 

4.2 Majedie  

Business 

The total assets under management for Majedie was c. £14.5bn as at 31 December 2017, unchanged from the 

previous quarter.  

Personnel 

There were no changes to the team over the fourth quarter of 2017. 

Deloitte view – We continue to rate Majedie positively for its UK Equity capabilities. 

4.3 LGIM 

Business 

As at 30 June 2017, Legal & General Investment Management (“LGIM”) had total assets under management of 

£951bn, an increase of £57bn since 31 December 2016, with the largest increases seen in Solutions and Multi-

Asset. (Note, Legal & General now report asset growth figures on a semi-annual reporting timetable and the 

next updated figures (December 2017) will be released by March 2018.) 

 

Personnel 

At the Index team level, there was one new joiner over the quarter, Harvey Sidhu, who joined as Head of Index 

Plus from BlackRock where he held the position of Lead Global Portfolio Manager. Lee Collins and David Barron 

also joined the Index Team as Head of Index Fixed Income and Head of Index Equity & FBI (Factor Based 

Investing) as internal transfers from other Legal & General departments. There was one leaver during the 

quarter as Pedro Santay left his role as European fund manager to take up a role based in continental Europe, 

with Chris Tydeman taking over his responsibilities. 

Deloitte View – We continue to rate Legal & General positively for its passive capabilities. 

4.4 Ruffer 

Business 

Total assets under management were £22.8bn as at 31 December 2017, an increase from £21.7bn at the 30 

September 2017. There was c. £1bn of new flows into the Fund over the fourth quarter of 2017, including c. 

£300m from new London Borough clients, investing through the London CIV pool.   

Personnel 

There were no significant personnel changes over the quarter.  

Deloitte view – The Ruffer product is distinctive within the universe of diversified growth managers with the 

manager willing to take contrarian, long term positions, where necessary drawing on the expertise of external 

funds.  We particularly like the capital preservation perspective that is used in constructing the strategy. 

4.5 Insight 

Business 

Total assets under management increased over the fourth quarter from c. £550bn to c. £585bn.  

Total assets in Insight’s Bonds Plus Fund was £4,010m as at 31 December 2017. 

Insight changed the Bonds Plus 200 and Bonds Plus 400 to daily dealing in Q4 2017 – previously the funds 

were weekly dealt. 

Personnel 

Insight made no changes to their Bonds Plus team over the quarter, however, within the Secured Finance 

team: 

 Alok Bedekar joined as a Senior Analyst, where he will primarily be responsible for the origination, 

execution and ongoing portfolio management of illiquid asset-backed credit investments. Alok was 

previously a Director at Shawbrook Bank plc. 

 Joseph Lawson joined as an analyst. Joseph is primarily responsible for the analysis, modelling and 

surveillance of asset-backed investments. Previously, Joseph was an analyst at Performance Trust Capital 

Partners. 

 Lenny Kushnirsky also joined as an analyst, primarily responsible for the analysis, modelling and 

surveillance of asset-backed investments. Lenny previously began his career as an actuarial analyst with 

Sibson Consulting in 2014. 

Page 33



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

11  
 

 

 

 

Deloitte view – We rate Insight positively for its Fixed Income capabilities but continue to monitor how growth 

is being managed across the business.  

4.6 Partners Group  

Business - Multi Asset Credit 

The net asset value of the MAC Fund was c. £222m as at 31 December 2017, a fall of c. £34m from 30 

September 2017 due to two distributions made in October and December. With the investment period for the 

2014 MAC vintage having finished at the end of July 2017, the Fund will continue to make distributions to 

investors in 2018. 

A successor MAC 2017 vintage was launched in October 2017. The first close of the new Fund happened on 12 

January 2018, with commitments of c. £890m across 30 clients. A final close is expected in April 2018. Partners 

Group has a “soft cap” on the Fund of £1bn with a “hard cap” of £1.5bn. 

Business - Direct Infrastructure 

Total commitment value as at 31 December 2017 remained at c. €1,080m as the Fund held no further closes 

over the quarter. 

The Fund was c. 16.6% drawn as at 31 December 2017, an increase from the previous quarter end where the 

Fund was 7.7% drawn. 

 

Personnel 

There were no significant personnel changes to the senior management team during the quarter. 

 

Deloitte View - We continue to rate Partners Group for its private market capabilities. 

4.7 Oak Hill Advisors – Diversified Credit Strategy (DCS) 

Business 

The total assets under management were approximately $31.4bn as at 1 November 2017, decreasing by c. 

$10.4n from 30 September 2017, with total assets in the DCS Fund at c. $4.4bn as at 31 December 2017, a 

decrease of c. $1.0bn over the quarter.  

Marketing has started for the OHA Credit Solutions Fund, a Direct Lending fund targeting private lending / 

capital solutions for large cap corporates across the capital structure in North America and Europe. 

OHA is in the process of launching a CLO Equity fund, the CLO Enhanced Equity Partnership Fund. With the US 

fund already launched, a European version is proposed for later in 2018. 

Personnel 

Doug Henderson, previously head of European Credit alongside Alexandra Jung, left his role as an active 

partner over the quarter to take on an advisory role within OHA. 

Justin Tasso joined as day to day portfolio manager of the Opportunistic Credit department to work alongside 

Adam Kertzner.  Justin has 17 years’ worth of relevant work experience. 

 

Deloitte view – We are comfortable with how the strategy is being managed and the level of risk within the 

strategy. We believe that the move to a single head of European Credit will have no impact on the management 

of the DCS strategy. 

4.8 M&G – Inflation Opportunities Fund 

Business 

Assets under management in the Inflation Opportunities Fund V Fund as at 31 December 2017 were c. £498m, 

up from c. £488m at the previous quarter. One investor reduced its allocation to the Fund over the quarter, as 

M&G remain open to finding cost efficient solutions to help clients looking to reduce their exposure. 

Personnel 

Alex Jeffrey will be stepping down as Chief Executive of M&G Real Estate in Q2 2018 to take up a new role as 

Head of Asia for all M&G’s business in the region. Simon Pilcher, Chief Executive, Fixed Income, will assume 

accountability at board level for M&G Real Estate. 

Page 34



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

12  
 

Deloitte view –The strategy has a high allocation to ILGs and has not managed to source as many ‘inflation 

linked opportunities’ as originally expected given the change in market conditions. The manager expects to 

increase the allocation to long lease property and, while we are positive on this asset class, it does create 

overlap with the Fund’s Long Lease Property mandate with Standard Life Investments. As such, the Committee 

may wish to consider whether there are alternative options that could be considered for all or part of the 

allocation in this strategy which offer at least a degree of “inflation proofing”. 

4.9 Aberdeen Standard Investments – Long Lease Property 

Business 

The Long Lease Property fund’s assets under management increased to £2.1bn as at 31 December 2017. 

Since the two businesses merged, ASI has put in place a formalised process where all potential transactions are 

reviewed and an “allocation policy” applied where interest is expressed in the investment by more than one 

fund/client portfolio. 

Following the quarter end ASI announced that from 1 April 2018 the fee rate being charged on the Long Lease 

Property Fund will be changing from the flat fee of 0.5% on assets invested to the following sliding fee scale: 

 0.5% on first £25m of assets invested; 

 0.4% on assets in the range of £25m-£50m; and 

 0.3% on assets over £50m. 

This will benefit the Fund which had c. £51m invested as at 31 December 2017. Fee reductions will be achieved 

through a management charge rebate in the form of either increasing the number of units held or through a 

monthly cash payment. 

Personnel 

Aberdeen Standard Investments has announced that the leadership team for Aberdeen Standard Investments 

Real Estate Division will be led by Global Co-Heads of Real Estate, David Paine and Pertti Vanhanen. 

Deloitte View – We continue to monitor ASI post-merger with the organisation currently in the midst of the 

integration. ASI has been keen to stress that the management of the Long Lease Property Fund is unaffected 

by the merger but there have already been changes to processes employed by the wider property team as a 

whole. 

4.10 Aviva Investors 

Business 

The Aviva Infrastructure Income Fund had £1,050m of investor commitments as at 31 December 2017, with 

£276m of this being ‘dry powder’ (£30m of which being this Fund’s commitment). 

Aviva has a strong pipeline, with c. £30m of capital with guaranteed deployment to the Fund’s existing project 

and c. £580m of priority pipeline across new projects. 

Aviva expects to draw down the queue over the course of the year, estimating that it could draw down on this 

Fund’s commitment as early as the second quarter. 

Personnel 

There were no significant personnel changes to the senior management team during the quarter. 

 

Deloitte View - We continue to rate Aviva Investors positively for its infrastructure capabilities. 

 

 

 

Page 35



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

13  
 

5 London CIV 

5.1 Investment Performance to 30 September 2017 

As at 31 December 2017, the London CIV had 10 sub-funds and assets under management of £6,336m, an 

increase from £5,556m as at 30 September 2017. This growth was attributable to a new sub-fund added over 

the quarter, which added c. £140m to the platform, as well as positive investment performance and an increase 

in the number of investors within various sub-funds. 

The table below provides an overview of the sub-funds currently available on the London CIV platform. 

 

During the quarter, the Epoch sub-fund was added. Epoch and the London CIV are working together to plan the 

transition for the relevant funds. The London CIV is expecting to add the following sub-funds over the coming 

months: 

 RBC – Sustainable equity sub-fund. 

 Janus Henderson – Emerging market equity sub-fund. 

 

 

Sub-fund Asset Class Manager 

Total AuM 

as at 30 

September 

2017 (£m) 

Total AuM 

as at 31 

December 

2017 (£m) 

Number of 

London 

CIV clients 

Inception 

Date 

LCIV MJ UK 

Equity 

UK Equity Majedie 523 531 3 18/05/17 

LCIV Global 

Equity Alpha 

Global Equity  Allianz Global 

Investors 

715 742 3 02/12/15 

LCIV BG Global 

Alpha Growth  

Global Equity Baillie Gifford 1,742 1826 9 11/04/16 

LCIV NW Global 

Equity 

Global Equity Newton 661 641 3 22/05/17 

LCIV LV Global 

Equity 

Global Equity  Longview 

Partners 

376 442 3 17/07/17 

LCIV EP Income 

Equity 

Global Equity Epoch 

Investment 

Partners 

- 140 1 08/11/17 

LCIV PY Total 

Return 

Diversified 

growth fund  

Pyrford 223 359 4 17/06/16 

LCIV Diversified 

Growth  

Diversified 

growth fund 

Baillie Gifford 434 477 6 15/02/16 

LCIV RF 

Absolute Return 

Diversified 

growth fund 

Ruffer 539 834 9 21/06/16 

LCIV NW Real 

Return 

Diversified 

growth fund 

Newton 343 344 3 16/12/16 

Total   5,556 6,336 21  

Page 36



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

14  
 

6 Majedie – UK Equity 

Majedie was appointed to manage an actively managed segregated UK equity portfolio.  The manager’s 

remuneration is a combination of a tiered fixed fee, based on the value of assets and a performance related fee 

of 20% of the outperformance which is payable when the excess return over the FTSE All Share +2% p.a. 

target benchmark over a rolling three year period. The investment with Majedie comprises a combination of the 

UK Equity Fund (no more than 30%), the UK Focus Fund and a holding in Majedie’s long/short equity fund, 

Tortoise (no more than 10%). 

6.1 UK Equity – Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

Source: Northern Trust 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 
 

The Fund returned 1.7% net of fees over the quarter against a benchmark return of 4.9%, taking the annual 

performance net of fees to 4.9% versus a benchmark return of 12.9%. Over the three year period, the Fund is 

behind both the benchmark return and the stated outperformance target. Over the five years to 31 December 

2017, the Fund is ahead of benchmark return by 1.8% p.a. net of fees, albeit behind the stated outperformance 

target by 0.2% p.a.  

 

6.2 Performance analysis 

When analysing the performance of an active equity manager, it is important to understand the ‘style’ of the 

strategy and assess the performance and attribution with this in mind. One way to do this is to compare the 

performance with other products with a similar style. 

The UK Equity Fund uses a multi-manager approach with 4 fund managers responsible for their own portfolios 

within the strategy. Each manager has a slightly different management style and therefore the Fund can, at 

times, display a bias to a particular style depending on the current market environment and the strength of 

views being expressed by the managers. The analysis below compares the UK Equity Fund to a universe of core 

UK equity managers, allowing us to analyse Majedie’s chosen style drift as well as sector positioning and stock 

selection, versus this universe. The universe is provided by eVestment and contains 78 products across 38 

firms. 

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

Majedie UK Equity

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 
E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.)(1) 

Three Years 

(% p.a.) 

Five Years 

(% p.a.) 

Majedie – Gross of fees 1.8 5.4 13.6 8.9 12.4 

Net of fees(1) 1.7 4.9 13.1 8.5 12.0 

Benchmark 4.9 12.9 14.7 9.9 10.2 

Target 5.3 14.9 16.7 11.9 12.2 

Net performance relative to 

Benchmark 

-3.2 -8.0 -1.6 -1.4 1.8 

Page 37



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

15  
 

The chart below compares the performance of Majedie with its peer group (gross of fees). 

 

Majedie has underperformed the core equity 

universe by 2.0% over the quarter and by 7.9% 

over the year to 31 December 2017. Over the 

past year Majedie has had a value tilt in the 

portfolio (49% allocation versus average 24% 

across the peer group), reflecting concerns that 

the broader market is overvalued and, if there 

were to be a correction, the more cyclical value 

stocks would perform better in such an 

environment.  

 

Source: eVestment. 

The charts below show Majedie’s style allocation over the quarter and year compared to the average allocation 

across the peer group. 

 

 

Source: eVestment. 

Majedie has had an overweight allocation to value and underweight to growth stocks over the past 9 months, 

relative to its peers. This illustrates Majedie’s concerns on markets and represents a relatively defensive 

position should there be a market correction. 

Page 38



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

16  
 

7 Legal and General – Global 

Equity 

Legal and General Investment Manager (“LGIM”) was appointed to manage a global equity portfolio with the 

objective of replicating the performance of the FTSE All World Index benchmark. The manager is remunerated 

on a tiered fixed fee based on the value of assets. 

7.1 Global Equity – Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

Source: LGIM. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

The Fund performed in line with the benchmark over the quarter and slightly underperformed the benchmark 

over the year to 31 December 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

LGIM – Gross of fees 5.1 13.8 20.9 

Net of fees(1) 5.1 13.7 20.8 

Benchmark 5.1 13.8 20.9 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 

Page 39



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

17  
 

8 Ruffer – Absolute Return  

Ruffer was appointed to manage an absolute return mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 month 

Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has a fixed fee based on the value of assets. 

8.1 Dynamic Asset Allocation – Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

 

Ruffer outperformed its Libor +4% p.a. target over the fourth quarter by 1.8% net of fees. This takes the 12 

month and three year absolute net performance to 0.5% and 6.4% p.a. respectively.  

A strong final quarter has combatted a tough year in terms of performance. Ruffer’s holdings in Japanese 

equities provided the largest contribution to performance with Japanese banks, life assurance stocks and Sony 

performing well over the quarter. 

Option protection was the only significant detractor to performance over the quarter, with volatility hitting new 

multi-year lows along with the growth in equity markets. 

The Fund’s sterling allocation increased over the quarter from 72% to 79%. This is a viewed as a more neutral 

position within the Fund and is a reaction to the UK economic/governmental stability. 

Ruffer has reduced its holdings of short dated UK index-linked bonds in the view that UK rate rises are not out 

of the question. 

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

Ruffer Absolute Return

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 
E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 

 Last 

Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.)(1) 

Three 

Years 

(% p.a.) 

Five Years 

(% p.a.) 

Ruffer - Gross of fees 3.1 1.3 7.3 5.8 7.1 

Net of fees(1) 2.9 0.5 6.4 4.9 6.3 

Benchmark / Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.5 

Net performance relative to 

Benchmark 

1.8 -3.8 2.0 0.5 1.8 

Page 40



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

18  
 

9 Insight – Bonds Plus 

Insight was appointed to manage an active bond portfolio with an aim of outperforming the 3 Month Sterling 

LIBOR by 2% over a rolling three year period. The fees are based on the value of assets invested in the fund. 

9.1 Absolute Return – Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

 

Insight underperformed its target over the fourth quarter by 0.3% net of fees. Over the year to 31 December 

2017, the Fund has underperformed its target by 2.5% net of fees.  

The Fund’s market allocation was the largest contributor to performance over the quarter to 31 December 

2017, driven largely by a long Australia vs short US and then short Germany position. 

The Fund’s duration positioning was also a detractor over the quarter, mainly due to tactical long positioning in 

Germany. However, duration has since been a main driver behind a strong start to 2018. 

Small positive contributions were achieved via investment grade credit and ABS following the continued 

tightening of spreads over the quarter. 

 

 

 

 

-1.2%

-1.0%

-0.8%

-0.6%

-0.4%

-0.2%

0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

Insight - Bonds Plus 

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

Insight - Gross of fees 0.4 0.3 1.5 

Net of fees(1) 0.3 -0.2 1.0 

Benchmark / Target 0.6 2.4 2.4 

Net performance relative to Benchmark -0.3 -2.5 -1.4 

Page 41



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

19  
 

10 Partners Group – Multi Asset 

Credit 

Partners Group was appointed to manage a multi asset credit mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 

month Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee and performance 

fee. 

10.1 Multi Asset Credit - Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

The Fund underperformed its benchmark over the quarter, net of fees, by 0.8%.  

Over the 12 month period to 31 December 2017, the Fund returned 4.4%, net of fees, performing in line with 

the benchmark. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-2.0%

-1.5%

-1.0%

-0.5%

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

Partners Group - Multi Asset Credit

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

Partners Group MAC - Gross of fees 0.5 5.3 6.7 

Net of fees(1) 0.3 4.4 5.8 

Benchmark / Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 

Net performance relative to Benchmark -0.8 0.0 1.4 

Page 42



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

20  
 

10.2 Asset Allocation 

The charts below show that the majority of the Fund is invested in senior secured debt. 

 

Note: Based on information provided by Partners Group. 

 

The table below shows details of the Fund’s five largest holdings based on net asset value as at 31 December 

2017. 

Note: Information provided by Partners Group. Current IRR is net of cost and fees of the investment partner but gross of Partners Group fees. 

For investments with a holding period less than 12 months, the IRR is not annualised.  

 

10.3 Fund Activity 

To date, the Fund has made investments in 54 companies, of which 22 have been fully realised. The Fund’s 3 

year investment period ended in July 2017 and, therefore, any investments realised after July are repaid to 

investors. As a result, the distribution rate has increased with two distributions made during the quarter in 

October and December. 

In October 2017, Partners realised its debt investments in ADB Safegate, an airfield ground systems provider, 

following the acquisition of the company by The Carlyle Group. 

In December 2017, Partners realised both its first and second lien debt investments in ABILITY Network, a US 

based healthcare information provider, as part of the company’s wider refinancing transaction. During the 

period in which the Fund held the investment, the company made a variety of growth acquisitions including 

Secure Bill Pay and G4 Health Systems. 

Investment Description 
Type of 

Debt 
Tranche 

Maturity  

Date 

Current 

IRR 

(%) 

NAV 

(£m) 

% of 

NAV 

Mirion 

Technologies, 

Inc. 

US Electronic 

company. 

Corporate First Lien 
31 Mar 

2022 
6.4 8.1 

6.6% 

Corporate 
Second 

Lien 

31 Mar 

2023 
8.3 6.5 

AS Adventure 

Large European 

specialist multi-brand 

outdoor retail group. 

Corporate First lien 
28 Apr 

2022 
5.0 14.3 6.4% 

Advanced 

Computer 

Software 

UK software 

developer. 
Corporate First lien 

20 Mar 

2022 
6.9 13.3 6.0% 

Motor Fuel Group 
UK petrol station 

chain 
Corporate First Lien 

15 July 

2022 
5.0 12.5 5.6% 

MyEyeDr 
Healthcare, education 

and childcare 
Corporate First Lien 

14 Aug 

2021 
7.8 10.3 4.6% 

Page 43



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

21  
 

11 Oak Hill Advisors – Diversified 

Credit Strategies Fund 
Oak Hill Advisors was appointed to manage a multi asset credit mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 

month Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee and performance 

fee. 

11.1 Diversified Credit Strategies - Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

Over the quarter the Diversified Credit Strategies Fund delivered 0.2% net of fees, underperforming its target 

by 0.9%. 

On a sector basis, structured finance and services were among the strongest performers. The 

telecommunications sector was the only sector to deliver a considerable negative return on a relative basis over 

the quarter. Utilities delivered a negligibly negative return with all other sectors yielding at least a small 

positive return. 

Over the longer 12 months period to 31 December 2017, the Fund has returned 3.7% net of fees, 

underperforming its target by 0.6%. Oak Hill believes things are in a benign state at present, with the market 

in a particularly strong position. 

OHA believes that there will be volatility in the oil and gas and the UK retail sectors and hence has limited 

exposure in such areas. The Diversified Credit Strategies Fund remains intentionally defensively positioned, 

holding a high cash allocation which it holds as “dry powder” so that it can take advantage of any future 

volatility which is expected to cause price drops in the market. 

-7%

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

OHA - Diversified Credit Strategies

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(%) 

OHA – Gross of fees 0.4 4.4 8.6 

Net of fees(1) 0.2 3.7 7.9 

Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark -0.9 -0.6 3.5 

Page 44



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

22  
 

12 Partners Group – Direct 

Infrastructure 

Partners Group was appointed to manage a global infrastructure mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 

month Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 8% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee and performance fee. 

12.1 Direct Infrastructure - Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

Activity 

During the fourth quarter of 2017, Partners Group decided to sell one of the original investments in the Fund, 

Japan Solar General Partner. During Partners Group’s ownership period, starting in January 2014, Japan Solar 

experienced substantial growth, growing from around 4 projects to a total of 28 projects. Partners Group 

elected to sell the asset as part of a wider pool of assets to a consortium led by Global Infrastructure Partners. 

Partners Group expects to complete the sale during the first quarter of 2018, expecting to realise a 3.2x money 

multiple. Partners Group noted that the exit environment was particularly attractive for this asset. 

Capital Calls 

6 October  

 The Fund issued its 12th capital call, drawing down an additional c. 5.1% (€55m). 

 Total drawn down following this call was c. 12.8%. 

27 November 

 The Fund issued its 13th capital call, drawing down an additional c. 1.9% (€20m). 

 The capital call was issued mainly to finance the repayment of loans pertaining to the investment in 

Sapphire Wind Farm, a 270MW development project comprising 75 wind farms in New South Wales, 

Australia. 

 Total drawn down following this call was c. 16.6%. 

 

Pipeline 

The Fund continues to have a strong investment pipeline across Europe, North and Latin America and the Asia 

Pacific region. The pipeline assets include offshore windfarms in the Netherlands, a collection of US ports and 

fibre optic networks in Spain and Latin America. 

  

Page 45



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

23  
 

Investments Held 

 

The table below shows a list of the investments held by the Partners Group Direct Infrastructure Fund as at 31 

December 2017. 

Investment Description Type  Sector Country 
Commitment 

Date 

Fermaca 
Gas infrastructure operator 

based in Mexico. 
Lead Energy Mexico July 2015 

Japan Solar 

General Partner 
Solar platform based in Japan 

Joint-

lead 
Solar Power Japan July 2015 

Silicon Ranch Solar platform based in US Lead Solar Power USA April 2016 

Axia NetMedie 

Internet and data network 

provider based in Canada and 

France 

Lead Communication 
Canada & 

France 
July 2016 

Merkur Offshore Wind farm based in German 

North Sea. 

Lead Wind Power Germany August 2016 

Green Island 

Renewable Solar 

Platform 

Solar power platform in 

Taiwan. 
Lead Solar Power Taiwan 

September 

2016 

High Capacity 

Metro Trains PPP 

Delivery and maintenance of 

rolling stock for Australian 

State government. 

Lead Transportation Australia 
November 

2016 

Raven 
Midstream clean energy 

processing facility in Texas. 
Lead Energy USA 

December 

2016 

Sapphire Wind 

Farm 

Onshore windfarm in 

Australia. 
Lead Wind Power Australia 

December 

2016 

USIC Utility location services  Lead Utilities USA August 2017 

Page 46



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

24  
 

13 M&G – Inflation Opportunities 

M&G was appointed to manage an inflation opportunities mandate with the aim of outperforming the RPI 

benchmark by 2.5% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee which is calculated based on the 

underlying assets 

13.1 M&G Inflation Opportunities - Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

 

Over the fourth quarter of 2017 the Fund returned 2.1% net of fees, outperforming the target by 0.4%. Over 

the longer 12 month period to 31 December 2017, the Fund has delivered a return of 7.2% net of fees, 

outperforming its target by 0.6%. 

The Fund has reduced its exposure to Index-linked gilts over the quarter but still the primary component of the 

portfolio at c. 39%, with long lease property at c. 31%, income strips at c. 22% and ground rents at c. 8%. 

 

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15Q1 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

M&G Inflation Opportunities

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(%) 

M&G Inflation Opportunities – Gross of fees 2.1 7.6 13.1 

Net of fees(1) 2.1 7.2 12.8 

Target 1.7 6.6 5.8 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.4 0.6 7.0 

Page 47



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

25  
 

14 Aberdeen Standard 

Investments – Long Lease 

Property 

Aberdeen Standard Investments was appointed to manage a long lease property mandate with the aim of 

outperforming the FT British Government All Stocks Index benchmark by 2.0% p.a. The manager has an annual 

management fee. 

14.1 Long Lease Property - Investment Performance to 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

The ASI Long Lease Property Fund returned 2.8% net of fees over the fourth quarter of 2017, outperforming 

the benchmark of the FTSE Gilt All Stocks Index + 2% by 0.4%.  

 

14.2 Portfolio Holdings 

The sector allocation in the Long Lease Property Fund as at 31 December 2017 is shown in the graph below. 

 

The Fund’s holdings in the office sector have decreased slightly from 24.3% as at 30 September 2017 to 24.0% 

as at 30 December 2017. Furthermore, the Fund’s retail sector holdings have reduced from 30.4% as at 30 

September 2017 to 28.3%.   

Throughout the quarter, the Fund’s industrial weight has reduced from 13.7% to 13.2%, while the “other” 

weighting has increased from 31.6% to 34.4%. 

 

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

ASI Long Lease Property – Gross of fees 2.9 11.5 8.5 

Net of fees(1) 2.8 11.0 8.0 

Target 2.4 3.8 7.9 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.4 7.1 0.1 

Page 48



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

26  
 

The table below shows details of the top ten tenants in the Fund measured by percentage of net rental income: 

Tenant Total Rent £m p.a. % Net Income 

Tesco 8.1 9.0 

Whitbread 6.4 7.1 

Sainsbury’s 4.9 5.5 

Marston’s 4.6 5.1 

Asda 4.4 4.9 

QVC 4.0 4.5 

Salford University 3.9 4.3 

Save The Children 3.8 4.2 

Poundland 3.6 4.0 

Glasgow City Council 3.5 3.9 

Total 47.2 52.4 * 

 

 

The top 10 tenants contribute 52.4% of the total net income into the Fund. Supermarkets continue to dominate 

with Tesco, Sainsbury’s and Asda contributing 19.4% to the Fund’s total net rental income as at 31 December 

2017. 

The Fund’s average unexpired lease term increased over the quarter from 24.7 years to 27.0 years following 

the sale of some assets with shorter lease lengths. 

The Fund continues to have a high level of inflation-linkage, with the vast majority of income linked to RPI, CPI 

or fixed increases in rent. 

14.3 Sales and Purchases 

The Fund made three sales over the quarter: 

 The Fund sold a property occupied by Debenhams in Nottingham for c. 5% above valuation to an overseas 

investor. The motivation behind the sale was due to concerns regarding Debenhams’ performance and 

uncertainty surrounding the future of the High Street retail sector. 

 The Fund sold two car showrooms over the quarter. One was an Audi showroom in Ayr (Scotland) for 

£4.125m with a net initial yield of 5.8%. The other, a BMW showroom in Harrogate for £5.75m with a net 

initial yield 5.5%. 

 

The Fund made one acquisition over the quarter: 

 The Fund completed the purchase of the portfolio of holiday parks for a fee of £145m over the quarter. The 

holding will be allocated two thirds to Long Lease Property Fund and one third to the ASI Ground Rents 

Fund. The portfolio consists of 9 holiday parks, located on the south east and south west coast within a 2-3 

hour drive of London. The initial yield was 3% with annual linked rent reviews with a cap and collar of 4% 

and 1% p.a. 

 Two of the Fund’s development assets completed over the quarter, 33 Foley Street which is medical facility 

in central London and an office asset which will be the Headquarters of Interserve, located near Birmingham 

Airport.  

 

*Total may not equal sum of values due to rounding 

Page 49



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

27  
 

Appendix 1 – Fund and Manager 

Benchmarks 

The tables in this Appendix detail the benchmarks and outperformance targets, for the Total Fund and each 

individual manager. 

Total Fund 

Inception: 31 December 1999. 

Manager Asset Class Allocation Benchmark Inception Date 

Majedie UK Equity 15.0% FTSE All-Share Index +2% p.a. 

over three year rolling periods 

31/08/05 

LGIM Global Equity 30.0% FTSE All World Index 30/11/15 

Ruffer Dynamic Asset 

Allocation 

10.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 31/07/08 

Insight Bonds Plus 10.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +2% p.a. 30/09/15 

Invesco Private Equity 0.0% n/a 30/09/09 

Unicapital Private Equity 0.0% n/a 30/09/09 

Partners 

Group 

Multi Asset Credit 5.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 28/01/15 

Oak Hill 

Advisors 

Multi Asset Credit 7.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 01/05/15 

Partners 

Group 

Infrastructure Fund 5.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +8% p.a. 31/08/2015 

Aviva 

Investors 

Infrastructure Income 

Fund 

3.0% FT British Government Index-

Linked All Stocks Index +2.0% 

*to be funded 

M&G Inflation Opportunities 10.0% RPI +2.5% 01/05/15 

Aberdeen 

Standard 

Investments 

Long Lease Property 5.0% FT British Government All Stocks 

Index +2.0% 

09/04/15 

 Total  100.0%   

Note, for the benchmark performance calculation, we assume a 10% allocation to Partners Group MAC and Oak Hill Advisors MAC, and 0% 

allocation to Partners Group Infrastructure. This will be re-weighted as the Infrastructure Fund is drawn down. 

Page 50



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

28  
 

Appendix 2 – Manager Ratings 

Based on our manager research process, we assign ratings to the investment managers for specific products or 

services.  The ratings are based on a combination of quantitative and qualitative factors, where the inputs for 

the qualitative factors come from a series of focused meetings with the investment managers.  The ratings 

reflect our expectations of the future performance of the particular product or service, based on an assessment 

of: 

 The manager’s business management; 

 The sources of ideas that go to form the portfolio (“alpha generation”); 

 The process for including the ideas into the portfolio (“alpha harnessing”); and 

 How the performance is delivered to the clients. 

On the basis of the research and analysis, managers are rated from 1 (most positive) to 4 (most negative), 

where managers rated 1 are considered most likely to deliver outperformance, net of fees, on a reasonably 

consistent basis.  Managers rated 1 will typically form the basis of any manager selection short-lists.   

Where there are developments with an investment manager that cause an element of uncertainty we will make 

the rating provisional for a short period of time, while we carry out further assessment of the situation. 

 

 

 

Page 51



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

29  
 

Appendix 3 – eVestment 

Attribution 

eVestment Attribution provides holdings-based portfolio analysis tool, allowing deeper insight into how portfolio 

returns are generated, active returns to be de-composed and value-add from sector, style and regional effects 

to be quantified.  

eVestment collects data directly from the investment managers. The calculations are based on holdings and 

may differ slightly from those provided by the manager. 

Definitions 

Allocation: Allocation effect captures the value added by the manager relative to the benchmark or peer group 

from active allocation to sectors, regions and styles. The Allocation effect isolates the manager’s active 

weighting decisions relative to the benchmark or average allocations across a peer group. This captures the 

manager’s ‘top-down’ skill. 

Selection: Selection effect captures the value added by the manager relative to the benchmark or peer group 

from overweighting or underweighting specific stocks. The Selection effect isolates the manager’s active stock 

selection decisions rather than holding the same securities as the benchmark or peer group. This captures the 

manager’s ‘bottom-up’ skill. 

Activity: This tracks the difference between the linked actual monthly returns and buy-and-hold monthly 

returns. This captures intra-period trading. 

Timing: This measures the combined effects of compounding and changes in allocations and holdings through 

time. 

Limitations 

 Attribution analysis is available for a minimum period of one quarter and maximum period of 5 years. 

 Only equity products are eligible for attribution analysis (this includes institutional, SMA, and ETF products). 

 Holdings data is collected on a quarterly basis. Adjustments are made to account for intra-quarter trading 

activity. 

 Managers are not permitted to view the holdings page for products other than those managed by their firm. 

 

Universe construction 

On an ongoing basis, all eVestment Universes are updated & scrubbed approximately 45 days after quarter-

end, where several factors are considered, including: 

 Screening of fundamental portfolio characteristics vs universe medians; emphasis on outliers, data trends 

and accuracy; 

 Analysis of sector allocations vs existing eVestment style universes; emphasis on significant over/under-

exposures to key “style” sectors (technology, financials, etc.); 

 Statistical performance and risk screening versus appropriate benchmarks and universe medians, such as 

returns, standard deviation, tracking error and correlation coefficients over trailing and rolling time periods; 

 Review of product narratives detailing a manager’s investment strategy, screening process, portfolio 

construction methodologies and buy/sell disciplines; 

 Manager reported capitalisation and style emphasis, or duration, quality and style emphasis and product 

benchmark. 

 

Security eligibility and weight threshold requirements for individual portfolios apply to universe construction as 

well. After this process is complete, the eVestment team will collectively review preliminary classifications on 

new universe entrants and any suggested reclassifications of existing products. Following final agreement 

Page 52



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

30  
 

among the eVestment team, products are added or moved and new universes are promoted to the live 

eVestment system for use by all eVestment clients. 

Page 53



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 December 2017 

 

31  
 

Appendix 4 – Risk warnings & 

Disclosures 

 

 Past performance is not necessarily a guide to the future. 

 The value of investments may fall as well as rise and you may not get back the amount invested. 

 Income from investments may fluctuate in value. 

 Where charges are deducted from capital, the capital may be eroded or future growth constrained. 

 Investors should be aware that changing investment strategy will incur some costs. 

 Any recommendation in this report should not be viewed as a guarantee regarding the future performance 

of the products or strategy.  

 

 

Our advice will be specific to your current circumstances and intentions and therefore will not be suitable for 

use at any other time, in different circumstances or to achieve other aims or for the use of others.  Accordingly, 

you should only use the advice for the intended purpose. 

Our advice must not be copied or recited to any other person than you and no other person is entitled to rely 

on our advice for any purpose.  We do not owe or accept any responsibility, liability or duty towards any person 

other than you. 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

 

 

Page 54



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

32  
 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 

Other than as stated below, this document is confidential and prepared solely for your information and that of other beneficiaries of 

our advice listed in our engagement letter. Therefore you should not refer to or use our name or this document for any other 

purpose, disclose them or refer to them in any prospectus or other document, or make them available or communicate them to any 

other party. If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax or National Insurance saving, no such 

conditions of confidentiality apply to the details of that arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with tax 

authorities).  In any event, no other party is entitled to rely on our document for any purpose whatsoever and thus we accept no 

liability to any other party who is shown or gains access to this document. 

 

© 2018 Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. All rights reserved. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. Registered office: Hill House, 1 Little New Street, London EC4A 3TR, United Kingdom. 

Registered in England and Wales No 3981512. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is a subsidiary of Deloitte LLP, the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate and independent 

entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Page 55



Appendix 3: CASHFLOW MONITORING: October to December 2017 
 

Pension Fund current account cashflow actuals and forecast for period October 2017 to September 2018 
 

 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 

 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

 Actual Actual Actual Actual F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast 

Balance b/f 4,988  2,950  2,670  1,315  168  3,993  4,568  4,143  3,718  4,043  3,618  3,193  

Contributions 1,962  2,093  2,010  2,014  2,000  2,000  9,900  2,000  7  2,000  2,000  2,000  

Pensions -2,585  -2,868  -2,904  -2,539  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  

Lump Sums -1,325  -838  -1,357  -1,353  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  

Net TVs in/(out) 14  1,361  54  843  200  200  200  200  200  200  200  200  

Expenses -103  -28  88  -112  -125  625  625  625  625  625  625  625  

Net cash in/(out) in month -2,038  -280  -2,108  -1,147  -1,175  -425  7,475  -425  -425  -425  -425  -425  

Net movements from 
invested cash (see 
overleaf) 

        5,000                

LCIV Distributions     753      1,000      750      1,000  

Balance c/f 2,950  2,670  1,315  168  3,993  4,568  12,043  11,618  11,943  11,518  11,093  11,668  

 
Current account cashflow actuals compared to forecast in October to December 2017 quarter 
 

     

 Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Variance 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Contributions 2,000  1,962  2,000  2,093  2,000  2,010  65  

Pensions -2,800  -2,585  -2,800  -2,868  -2,800  -2,904  43  

Lump Sums -450  -1,325  -450  -838  -450  -1,357  -2,170  

Net TVs in/(out) 75  14  75  1,361  75  54  1,205  

Expenses -125  -103  -125  -28  -125  88  332  

Withdrawals from Fund 
Managers  

  0    0    0  0  

LCIV Distributions   0    0    753  753  

Totals -1,300  -2,038  -1,300  -280  -1,300  -2,108  -525  

 

Notes on variances in quarter: 

 Net TVs In over the quarter were 
higher than forecast by £0.7m 

 The LCIV distributions relating to 
pooled Majedie & Ruffer assets 
are sent to the Pension Fund Nat 
West current account, in order to 
reduce the liquidation assets to 
cover net outgoings.  

 Lump Sums & Net Transfers 
exceed forecasts. 

P
age 56



Actuals and forecast of invested cash balance for period October 2017 to September 2018 
 

 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 

 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

 Actual Actual Actual F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast 

Balance b/f 9,262  8,799  8,799  12,268  12,268  7,268  7,393  7,393  9,772  11,279  11,279  11,394  

Interest     10      10      9      9  

Distributions                         

   Private Equity     535      115    115      115    

   Multi Asset Credit 2,056    3,819            1,498      1,498  

   Infrastructure               2,264          

Drawdowns paid to 
Infrastructure fund 

(2,519)    (895)                    

Paid to/from current 
account (see table above) 

        (5,000)                

Balance c/f 8,799  8,799  12,268  12,268  7,268  7,393  7,393  9,772  11,279  11,279  11,394  12,901  

 
 

The forecast indicates that there should be sufficient cash available to fund pension payments and infrastructure drawdowns until September 
2018, however, the cash flow position will still need to closely monitored, as Partners Group are only able to advise of capital calls up to a month 
in advance.    
 

P
age 57



Appendix 4 - Pension Fund risk register, December 2017 
 

   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

1 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
That the combination of assets in 
the investment portfolio fails to 
fund the liabilities in the long term.  

 Investment strategy in place and 
reviewed periodically. 

 Performance is measured against a 
liability based benchmark. 

 Fund performance is reviewed 
quarterly. 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

2 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
Fund managers fail to achieve the 
returns agreed in their 
management agreements. 

 Independent monitoring of fund 
manager performance by custodian 
against targets. 

 Investment adviser retained to keep 
watching brief. 

 Fund manager performance is 
reviewed quarterly. 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

3 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
Failure of custodian or 
counterparty. 

 At time of appointment, ensure 
assets are separately registered and 
segregated by owner. 

 Review of internal control reports on 
an annual basis. 

 Credit rating kept under review. 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

  

P
age 58



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

4 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
The level of inflation and interest 
rates assumed in the valuation 
may be inaccurate leading to 
higher than expected liabilities. 

 Review at each triennial valuation 
and challenge actuary as required. 

 Growth assets and inflation linked 
assets in the portfolio should rise as 
inflation rises. 
 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

5 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
There is insufficient cash available 
in the Fund to meet pension 
payments leading to investment 
assets being sold at sub-optimal 
prices to meet pension payments. 
 

 Cashflow forecast maintained and 
monitored. 

 Cashflow position reported to sub-
committee quarterly. 

 Cashflow requirement is a factor in 
current investment strategy review. 

1 4  

Low 
 
4 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

6 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
Scheme members live longer than 
expected leading to higher than 
expected liabilities. 
 
 

 Review at each triennial valuation 
and challenge actuary as required. 

 
3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

  

P
age 59



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

7 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
Scheme matures more quickly 
than expected due to public sector 
spending cuts, resulting in 
contributions reducing and 
pension payments increasing. 

 Review maturity of scheme at each 
triennial valuation. 

 Deficit contributions specified as 
lump sums, rather than percentage 
of payroll to maintain monetary 
value of contributions. 

 Cashflow position monitored 
monthly. 

 

2 

 

4 

Low 
 
8 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

8 STRATEGIC: REGULATION 
Pensions legislation or regulation 
changes resulting in an increase in 
the cost of the scheme or 
increased administration. 

 Maintain links with central 
government and national bodies to 
keep abreast of national issues. 

 Respond to all consultations and 
lobby as appropriate to ensure 
consequences of changes to 
legislation are understood. 
 

3 3  

Low 
 
9 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



 
   Residual risk 

score 
   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

9 STRATEGIC: REGULATION 
Introduction of European Directive 
MiFID II results is a restriction of 
Fund’s investment options and an 
increase in costs 
 

 Officers are engaging with Fund 
Managers to understand the position 
better 

 Knowledge and Skills Policy in place 
for Officers and Members of the 
Committee 

 Maintain links with central 
government and national bodies to 
keep abreast of national issues. 
 

3 5  

Medium 
 

15 Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

10 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Failure to comply with legislation 
leads to ultra vires actions 
resulting in financial loss and/or 
reputational damage. 
 

 Officers maintain knowledge of legal 
framework for routine decisions. 

 Eversheds retained for consultation 
on non-routine matters. 

2 4  

Low 
 
8 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

11 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Committee members do not have 
appropriate skills or knowledge to 
discharge their responsibility 
leading to inappropriate decisions. 
 

 External professional advice is 
sought where required 

 Knowledge and skills policy in place 
(subject to Committee Approval) 
 

 

3 3  

Low 
 
9 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

  

P
age 61



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

I 
Im

p
a

c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

12 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Officers do not have appropriate skills 
and knowledge to perform their roles 
resulting in the service not being 
provided in line with best practice and 
legal requirements.  Succession 
planning is not in place leading to 
reduction of knowledge when an officer 
leaves. 

 Person specifications are used 
at recruitment to appoint officers 
with relevant skills and 
experience. 

 Training plans are in place for 
all officers as part of the 
performance appraisal 
arrangements. 

 Shared service nature of the 
pensions team provides 
resilience and sharing of 
knowledge. 

 

3 3  

Low 
 

9 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

13 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Inadequate, inappropriate or 
incomplete investment or actuarial 
advice is actioned leading to a financial 
loss or breach of legislation. 
 

 At time of appointment ensure 
advisers have appropriate 
professional qualifications and 
quality assurance procedures in 
place. 

 Committee and officers 
scrutinise and challenge advice 
provided. 
 

2 4  

Low 
 

8 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

 
 

P
age 62



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

14 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
London CIV has inadequate resources 
to monitor the implementation of 
investment strategy and as a 
consequence are unable to address 
underachieving fund managers. 

 Pension Fund Committee Chair 
is a member of the Joint 
member Committee responsible 
for the oversight of the CIV and 
can monitor and challenge the 
level of resources through that 
forum. 

 Tri-Borough Strategic Finance 
Director is a member of the 
officer Investment Advisory 
Committee which gives the 
Fund influence over the work of 
the London CIV. 
 

2 4  

 
 
 

Low 
 

8 
 

6 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

15 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Failure of an admitted or scheduled 
body leads to unpaid liabilities being 
left in the Fund to be met by others. 

 Transferee admission bodies 
required to have bonds in place 
at time of signing the admission 
agreement. 

 Regular monitoring of 
employers and follow up of 
expiring bonds. 
 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 

 
Strategic 

Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

  

P
age 63



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

I 
Im

p
a

c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

16 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Ill health costs may exceed “budget” 
allocations made by the actuary 
resulting in higher than expected 
liabilities particularly for smaller 
employers. 

 Review “budgets” at each 
triennial valuation and challenge 
actuary as required. 

 Charge capital cost of ill health 
retirements to admitted bodies 
at the time of occurring. 

 Occupational health services 
provided by the Council and 
other large employers to 
address potential ill health 
issues early. 
 

2 2  

Low 
 

4 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

17 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Transfers out increase significantly as 
members transfer to DC funds to 
access cash through new pension 
freedoms. 
 

 Monitor numbers and values of 
transfers out being processed. 

 If required, commission transfer 
value report from Fund Actuary 
for application to Treasury for 
reduction in transfer values. 
 

2 1  

Low 
 

2 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 64



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

18 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation leading to negative 
impact on reputation of the Fund as 
well as financial loss. 

 Third parties regulated by the 
FCA and separation of duties 
and independent reconciliation 
procedures in place. 

 Review of third party internal 
control reports. 

 Regular reconciliations of 
pension payments undertaken 
by Pensions Finance Team. 

 Periodic internal audits of 
Pensions Finance and HR 
teams. 
 

4 4  

High 
 

16 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

19 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of fund manager or other 
service provider without notice 
resulting in a period of time without the 
service being provided or an 
alternative needing to be quickly 
identified and put in place. 
 

 Contract monitoring in place 
with all providers. 

 Procurement team send alerts 
whenever credit scoring for any 
provider changes for follow up 
action. 
 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Dec 2017 

 
  

P
age 65



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

20 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of financial system leading to 
lump sum payments to scheme 
members and supplier payments not 
being made and Fund accounting not 
being possible. 

 Contract in place with BT to 
provide service enabling 
smooth processing of supplier 
payments 

 Process in place for Surrey CC 
to generate lump sum payments 
to members as they are due. 

 Officers undertaking additional 
testing and reconciliation work 
to verify accounting transactions 

2 

 

5 

Low 

10 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Dec 2017 

21 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of pension payroll system 
resulting in pensioners not being paid 
in a timely manner. 
 
 
 

 In the event of a pension payroll 
failure we would consider 
submitting the previous months 
BACS file to pay pensioners a 
second time if a file could not be 
recovered by the pension 
administrators and our software 
suppliers.  
 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 

5 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Dec 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 66



 
   Residual risk 

score 
   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

22 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure to pay pension benefits 
accurately leading to under or over 
payments. 
 
 

 There are occasional 
circumstances where under or 
over payments are identified. 
Where under payments occur 
arrears are paid as soon as 
possible usually in the next 
monthly pension payment. 
Where an overpayment occurs, 
the member is contacted and 
the pension corrected in the 
next month. Repayment is 
requested and sometimes we 
collect this over a number of 
months. 
 

2 

 

3 

Low 
 
6 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Dec 2017 

23 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of pension administration 
system resulting in loss of records and 
incorrect pension benefits being paid or 
delays to payment. 
 

 Pension administration records 
are stored on the surrey servers 
they have a disaster recovery 
system in place and records 
should be restored within 24 
hours of any issue, files are 
backed up daily. 
 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 
5 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Dec 2017 

P
age 67



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 Risk 

Rating 
Officer 

responsible 
Next 

Review 
Date 

24 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Administrators do not have sufficient 
staff or skills to manage the service 
leading to poor performance and 
complaints. 
 
 

 Surrey CC administers pensions 
for Surrey, East Sussex and is 
taking on our Tri-Borough 
partners. They have a number 
of very experienced 
administrators two of whom 
tuped to them from LPFA with 
our contract.  Where issues 
arise the Pensions Liaison 
Officer reviews directly with the 
Pensions Manager at Surrey. 
More detailed performance 
reports are being developed. 

3 

 

3 

Low 
 
9 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Dec 2017 

25 Operational: Administration 
BT unable to provide monthly or end of 
year interface files in a format suitable 
for Surrey CC to update service 
records and undertake day to day 
operations. Inaccuracies in service 
records held on the pensions 
administration system may impact on 
the triennial funding valuation at March 
2016 and notifications to starters and 
leavers. 

 Issue has been escalated by 
the Chief Executive for high 
level resolution with BT 

 Test files are currently with SCC 

 Actuary undertakes data 
cleansing on the service records 
and is confident this will mitigate 
the inaccuracies in service 
records 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 
5 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Dec 2017 

 

P
age 68



 
Appendix 5: Pension Fund Voting Summary:  October to December 2017 
 
 
The investment managers managing the Fund’s assets on a segregated basis are 
able to report on how they have voted the Fund’s specific holdings at AGMs and 
EGMs of companies the Fund is invested in.   
 
LCIV Majedie voting information is as follows: 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 24 

No. of meetings 26 

No. of resolutions 216 

 
 
LCIV Ruffer voting information is as follows: 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 6 

No. of meetings 7 

No. of resolutions 28 

 
 
LGIM, who manage the global passive equity portfolio on behalf of the Fund, 
undertake extensive engagement with the companies they are invested in as well as 
voting.  Below is a summary of the meetings they voted at and the engagement they 
undertook during the October to December 2017 quarter. 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 469 

No. of meetings 484 

No. of resolutions 4,488 

 
 

ENGAGEMENT 

No. of companies 60 

No. of meetings 73 

Top 3 themes Board Composition 

Strategy 

Remuneration 

 

Page 69



Appendix 6 
Forward Plan for Pensions sub-committee – March 2017 
 

Area of work Jun 2018 Sep 2018 Nov 2018 Mar 2019 

Governance Quarterly Update Pack 

Pension Board minutes 

Business Plan 

Internal Audit Report 

Quarterly Update Pack 

Annual report of Pension 
Board activities 

Annual Report 

Quarterly Update Pack 

Pension Board minutes 

 

Quarterly Update Pack 

Pension Board minutes 

 

Investments Fund Manager monitoring 

Annual report to Scheme 
Advisory Board re pooling 
arrangements 

Investment Strategy 
Review 

 

Fund Manager monitoring Fund Manager monitoring 

Funding     

 

P
age 70



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

PENSIONS BOARD 
 

27 JUNE 2018 

ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS PROVIDER TRANSITION UPDATE 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director – Hitesh Jolapara 

Open Report 

Classification: For Information 
Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Finance Manger – Treasury and Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report provides an update of the AVC provider, Zurich Corporate 
Savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund Member assets to a new platform. 

 
1.2 The transition aims to provide members with a better service by utilising an 

online platform where members can check their benefits and receive up to 
date information. 

 
1.3 The implementation will require key contributions from Human Resources in 

communicating this change to affected members. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the update as presented to the 
Pensions Sub Committee. 

 
3 TRANSITION OVERVIEW 

 
3.1 An initial call was held between Zurich and LBHF pensions representatives on 

14 February 2018 to initiate the project launch. 
 

3.2 Zurich have communicated their timetable for the transition and the key dates 
are listed below: 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9

mailto:mhopson@westminster.gov.uk


 

Milestone Date 

 

Project Launch 14/02/2018 

Service Agreement signed and returned 23/02/2018 

Define and agree all requirements 02/03/2018 

Zurich - Employee/member letter issued 13/03/2018 

New scheme 'live' on Zurich system 27/03/2018 

Literature approved 29/03/2018 

Administration, Upload and Payroll process - training completed 29/03/2018 

New infosite live and member literature available online 03/04/2018 

Member blackout starts (no access to DCP) but can still request 
16/04/2018 

switches via phone  
Existing scheme members uploaded to new scheme 17/04/2018 

Release scheme administrator access for new scheme 26/04/2018 

Go/No Go call 27/04/2018 

Member blackout on DCP scheme prior to asset transition 01/05/2018 

Transfer effective date 08/05/2018 

Member records updated 23/05/2018 

Transfer confirmation letters Issued 24/05/2018 

Reconciliation report issued 25/05/2018 

 
 
 

3.3 Whilst the majority of the transition will be handled by Zurich, there are a few 
decisions that need to be taken by LBHF. The biggest decision will be the 
communication strategy, of which there are two options: 

 

 Utilise the communication material provided by Zurich (attached at 
Appendices 1-3) if deemed appropriate, although no modifications to 
this material at all are allowed by Zurich’s assurance team. 

 If it is deemed that the material is not sufficient, LBHF can either 
provide supplementary communications, or devise bespoke 
communication from scratch. 

 
3.4 The second decision that needs to be made is what investment products will 

be transitioned to the new platform. The proposal is to transfer all members 
into the equivalent products on the new platform and utilise those products 
accordingly. 

 
3.5 The exception for this will be ten members who are currently in the “with 

profits” investment product as this is no longer going to be provided in the new 
platform. These members will need to be advised of this and a new 
investment product proposed. If members do not elect to transfer to a new 
product one will need to be selected for them. 

 
 

4 NEXT STEPS 

Page 72



4.1 The first step is to sign and return the service agreement (Appendix 4). 
 
4.2 LBHF Human Resources will need to liaise closely with Zurich to ensure that 

communication to members is provided in a timely fashion as the project 
moves towards completion. 

 
4.3 The Pensions Sub-Committee will be provided with an update of the transition 

at the next meeting. This update will also be provided to the Pensions Board.  

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

None. 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 

 
Appendix 1: Zurich communication material – Trust announcement letter 
Appendix 2: Zurich communication material – Q&A 
Appendix 3: Zurich communication material – Timelines 
Appendix 4: LBHF service agreement 

Page 73



The Zurich Corporate Savings Platform gives you an enhanced online experience making 
it easier to manage your retirement savings. With its contemporary look and feel, and many 
new features and benefits, it is intuitive to use and easier to navigate to access relevant 
information. In addition, it’s mobile device-friendly meaning you can view your retirement 
savings on smart phones and tablets. 

The Zurich Corporate Savings Platform 

<Title> <Initials> <Surname> 

<Member Postal Address Line 1> 

<Member Postal Address Line 2> 

<Member Postal Address Line 3> 

<Member Postal Address Line 4> 

<Member Postal Address Line 5> 

 

 

Date:  <Date>  

Scheme: <Scheme name> 

Membership number:  <Plan number> 

Dear <Title and Surname of member> 

 

Important information – please read 

As a member of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham AVC 

Scheme we would like to let you know about some changes being made 

to your existing Retirement Account.  

Following recent consultation with the Trustees, we are moving the plan to the Zurich Corporate 

Savings Platform and will set up a new Retirement Account for you.  

The new plan will be called <new scheme name> and all future payments will be made to your 

new Retirement Account. 

 

        

 

Page 74



What does this mean for me? 

From <month> all future payments towards your 

retirement savings will be invested in your new 

Retirement Account on the Corporate Savings 

Platform. You will receive a: 

 welcome letter which includes details of your 

new membership number and logon ID, and 

 letter with details of your temporary password. 

This is a great opportunity to review your retirement 

savings to see how your money is performing.  

Are you on track to meet your retirement goals? It’s 

important to keep an eye on things. 

You will have access to a new website at www.zurich.co.uk/save/<schemeurl> from <date>. 

You will still be able to access your existing website until your existing Retirement Account is 

moved across to your new one. 

As part of this move, there will be no change to your provider, Zurich Assurance Ltd. However, 

you may also see references to Sterling ISA Managers Limited in your literature and online. 

Sterling ISA Managers Limited is the Zurich Corporate Savings Platform Operator. See question 

11 in the enclosed Q&A document for more information.  

Between <date> and <date> your retirement savings in your existing Retirement Account will be 

moved across to your new Retirement Account. You will not be able to make any online 

transactions on your existing Retirement Account while this is happening. This is known as a 

‘blackout period’. Once your retirement savings in your existing Retirement Account have been 

moved, your existing Retirement Account will close. As soon as the blackout period starts, you 

will no longer be able to login to your existing Retirement Account.  

If you do want to make any fund switches during the blackout period you can call our Support 

Centre who will be able to help. However, we can only accept requests made before <date>. 

After a short period, you will be able to access details about your existing Retirement Account 

using your new logon ID and password. See the enclosed Q&A document for more information. 

Your future payments will automatically be invested in line with your current investment 

strategy. You can find details of all the investments available to you on the website. Once you 

have your new logon ID and password, you can log in to the website to make any changes. 

 Include where customer has Secure and/or With Profits holdings: 

Important information about specific investments no longer available 

under your new Retirement Account 

Your new Retirement Account does not offer the <Secure><With Profits> fund. Any holdings 

and future payments will be invested in the default lifestyle strategy. For information about the 

default lifestyle strategy please visit at www.zurich.co.uk/save/<schemeurl> 

Page 75

http://www.zurich.co.uk/save/
http://www.zurich.co.uk/save/


What happens next? 

The enclosed timeline details what will happen and when. It also gives details of the 

communications you’ll receive. 

 

Where can I get more information? 

We hope the enclosed Q&A document will help answer any queries you may have. If you have 
any further questions, please call us on <telephone number>. Our lines are open from 8am to 
5:30pm, Monday to Friday – we’ll be happy to help. We may record or monitor calls to improve 
our service. 
 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

Sarah McDonald 

Customer Services Delivery Manager 

 

Enclosures: 

 Q&A document 

 What will happen and when?

 

 

Zurich Assurance Ltd 

Zurich Corporate Savings, PO Box 135, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL52 8ZP 

Telephone: 0800 030 4428. We may record or monitor calls to help improve our service. 

Zurich Assurance Ltd, authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and  

regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority.  

Registered in England and Wales under company number 02456671 

Registered Office: The Grange, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, GL52 8XX. 

 

NP720195001 (06/17) RRD 

Page 76



 

Your questions answered 
 

 

Following consultation with the Trustees, your pension scheme is moving to 
Zurich’s Corporate Savings Platform. This document is designed to help 
answer any questions you may have about this. 

 

 

1. Why am I moving? 

 

Zurich’s Corporate Savings Platform gives you an enhanced online experience making it easier for you to manage 

your retirement savings. With its contemporary look and feel, and many new features and benefits, it is intuitive to 

use and easier to navigate to access relevant information. In addition, it’s mobile device-friendly meaning you can 

view your Retirement Account on smart phones and tablets. 

 

 

2. Will I have a new membership number? 

 

Yes – this will be detailed in your Welcome letter. 

 

 

3. What will happen to benefits in my existing Retirement Account? 

 

All of your retirement savings in your existing Retirement Account will be moved across to your new Retirement 

Account. Your existing Retirement Account will then close and you will no longer have access to it. Within a few 

weeks of receiving your new login details, we will place the following document about your existing Retirement 

Account in the ‘My Library’ section of your new online account: 

 

 Retirement Account summary – this document shows details of payments made into your existing 

Retirement Account, in addition to historic and previous claim information (if applicable). 

 

To access ‘My Library’ you will need to login to the new website.  

 

If you are unable to access this document and would like a copy, please contact our Support Centre. 

Page 77



 

 

 

4. What action do I need to take? 

 

There is no action for you to take. However, you may wish to review your investments. You will be able to make 

changes to where future payments are invested once you have your new login details for your new Retirement 

Account. Once your retirement savings in your existing Retirement Account have been moved across to your new 

Retirement Account you will then be able to review and make changes to those should you wish to do so. You may 

choose to invest in the default lifestyle choice, in self-select funds, or a combination of the default lifestyle choice 

and self-select funds – the latter is a new feature available on the Corporate Savings Platform. 

 

When you log in to your new Retirement Account, you may be asked to provide additional identification (even if 

you have supplied this before) to satisfy Anti Money Laundering regulations. 

 

5. Will my payments change? 

 

No – unless you want to review the amount you are paying and make changes. If you are making Additional 

Voluntary Contributions these will also remain the same unless you wish to change them. 

 

 

6. Will I need to complete a new Expression of Wish form? 

 

No. If you have previously completed an Expression of Wish form, this will remain valid. 

 

If you haven’t previously completed an Expression of Wish form you may wish to consider doing so. You can 

download a copy from the new website. 

 

 

7. I’m currently in the process of transferring some previous benefits to you. What 

will happen to these? 

 

We aim to complete your transfer before we move your retirement savings in your existing Retirement Account to 

your new Retirement Account. However, if the transfer hasn’t been completed before your new Retirement Account 

Page 78



 

is set up, please contact our Support Centre, with your new membership number, as they will need to send you 

some new forms. You will need to complete these new forms for the transfer to proceed. 

 

 

8. What happens if I want to make a claim? 

 

If you wish to make a full claim and do not want to make any further payments before these changes take place, 

then you shouldn’t be affected by this change and will not receive a new Welcome letter. You can contact our 

Support Centre and they will guide you through the next steps about claiming on your existing Retirement Account. 

 

If you are making a partial claim we will aim to complete this before we move your retirement savings in your 

existing Retirement Account to your new Retirement Account. However, if the claim hasn’t been completed before 

your new Retirement Account is set up, please contact our Support Centre, with your new membership number, as 

they will need to send you some new forms. You will need to complete these new forms for the transfer to proceed. 

 

If you wish to make a claim after your new Retirement Account has been set up, please quote your new 

membership number. 

 

9. What if I’m close to retirement? 

 

If you’ve received a retirement letter from us, the retirement process will continue once your new Retirement 

Account has been set up. If you don’t respond, your selected retirement age will be moved to your 75th birthday. If 

you are invested in a lifestyle option, this will end and your money will be moved into the individual funds that 

made up the lifestyle option. Please bear in mind that these will be funds which have lower growth potential but are 

less likely to have wide fluctuations in value, and their value may not keep up with inflation. You therefore may wish 

to review your investments. 

 

 

 

 

 

10. Will there be any changes to the website? 

 

Page 79



 

Yes – you will have access to a new website. You can find the address in the covering letter. Please update your 

bookmarks/favourites with this new address. We will be closing the existing website on the date detailed in the 

covering letter. 

 

 

11. Who is Sterling ISA Managers Limited? 

 

Sterling ISA Managers Limited has been appointed by your product provider, Zurich Assurance Ltd, to provide 

online access to your Retirement Account via the Corporate Savings Platform. Sterling ISA Managers Limited is part 

of Zurich’s UK Life business which is a member of the Zurich Group. 

 

 

12. Will I still receive a benefit statement? 

 

Yes. You will continue to receive your statements once a year as normal. 

 

 

13. Will I need to complete a new Letter of Authority? 

 

Yes. If you have previously completed a Letter of Authority, we will need a new one. Please send this to us with a 

note of your new membership number. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Zurich Assurance Ltd. 

Registered in England and Wales under company number 02456671. 

Registered Office: The Grange, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, GL52 8XX. 

Page 81



You are 
advised about 
the changes 
we are making 
to your existing 
Retirement 
Account

New website 
available

You can access 
your Retirement 
Account 
summary in the  
‘My Library’ 
section of your 
online account

What will happen and when

Today

You will 
receive:

• Welcome 
letter

• Letter  
with new 
temporary 
password

Weeks 6 -7

Regular 
payments are 
set up and 
you can now 
transact in 
your new 
Retirement 
Account

Week 8

Zurich Assurance Ltd.
Registered in England and Wales under company number 02456671. 
Registered Office: The Grange, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, GL52 8XX.

719195002 (06/17) RRD

You’ll receive a 
letter confirming  
all your 
retirement 
savings in your 
existing 
Retirement 
Account have 
been moved 
across to  
your new 
Retirement 
Account

Week 10

This timeline details the steps involved in moving your existing Retirement Account across to your new Retirement Account. 
Please note the dates give you a guideline on when things will happen but they may change slightly throughout the process.

If you are in 
the process of 
making a claim 
please send us 
anything that 
is outstanding 
to help us 
complete this 
claim quickly

Week 4

Blackout period 
starts – you will 
no longer be 
able to login to 
your existing 
Retirement 
Account and 
make any 
online 
transactions

Week 5

 Blackout period

P
age 82



WSZOMPSA00024 (03.17) CSP AVC Version 
 

 

 

Dated                            2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) ZURICH ASSURANCE LTD 
 
 

(2) STERLING ISA MANAGERS LIMITED 
 
 

(3) THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF THE  
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM 

 
 
 
 

  
 

OCCUPATIONAL MONEY PURCHASE PLAN (AVC ONLY) 

SERVICE AGREEMENT  

 

  

Page 83



 

2 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on         2018 
 
BETWEEN: 
 
(1) ZURICH ASSURANCE LTD, a company registered in England under company number 02456671, 

whose registered office is at The Grange, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 8XX 
(“the Provider”);  
 

(2) STERLING ISA MANAGERS LIMITED, a company incorporated in England company number 
02395416 whose registered office is at The Grange, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire 
GL52 8XX (“the Platform Operator”); and  

 
(3) THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM, 

Town Hall Extension, King Street, London, W6 9JU  (“the Trustee”),  
 
together the “parties” and each a “party”.  
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
(A) The Provider is the provider of the Zurich Occupational Money Purchase Plan (“the Plan”) which is a 

linked long-term contract of insurance issued to trustees of occupational pension schemes as a means 
to invest payments from sponsoring employers and members of the pension scheme.  
 

(B) The Plan was formerly administered on the Provider’s own computer system known as the “DC 
Platform”. The Provider and the Trustee have agreed to transfer the Plan to the Platform Operator’s 
computer system as this provides a more modern service and greater flexibility. 

 
(C) The Platform Operator is the operator of the Zurich Money4Life™ workplace savings platform. The 

platform provides on-line access to the Plan.  
 
(D) The Trustee is the trustee of the sponsoring employer’s occupational pension scheme and shall enter 

into this agreement in its capacity as Trustee of the pension scheme with the purpose of securing the 
provision of services from the Provider and from the Platform Operator.  

 
 
IT IS AGREED as follows:  
 
1.  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  
 
1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words and phrases shall have 

the following meanings:  
 

“Account Manager” means the person appointed by the Provider to liaise with the Trustee in respect 
of the Plan and Services;  
 
“Active Member” means a Member who is recorded as “employed” and has a payment basis which is 
more than zero marked on the Retirement Account and has units allocated to their Retirement Account;  

 
"Administrator" means the persons (other than the Provider) appointed by the Trustee to carry out the 
processes that are available on the Platform;  
 
“Affiliate” means in relation to each party, any subsidiary or holding company of the party and each 
subsidiary of such holding company (excluding the party in question) and in the case of Zurich shall 
include the Zurich Group; 
 
“Agreement” means this Occupational Money Purchase Plan (AVC Only) Service Agreement for the 
provision of services in respect of the Plan;  
 

Page 84



 

3 

 

“Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements” means common law, all applicable statutes, 
statutory instruments, regulations, instruments, provisions and any code of practice applicable to the 
parties as amended from time to time and in particular, without limitation, the rules, principles and 
guidance stipulated by any Regulator;  

“Annual Allowance” means the annual limit on the amount of tax relieved savings which can be made 
by, or in respect of, an individual in all registered pension schemes each tax year before the individual 
becomes liable to a tax charge; 

“AUM” means the total value of assets held within the Plan;  

 “Blended Fund” means a blend of Zurich Pension Funds used to create one single Zurich Pension 
Fund that invests in a mix of assets;  

“Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks are open in London for business except a 
Saturday, Sunday or a bank holiday in England;  

“Cease Active Membership” means that an Active Member or the Trustee has stopped making 
payments to the Plan after the expiry of the Statutory Opt Out Period;  

“Charges and Funds Schedule” means the document containing the Plan charges;  

“Confidential Information" means all information or data (including all oral and visual information or 
data recorded in writing or in any other medium) relating to operations, processes, plans, intentions, 
product information, trade secrets, software, market opportunities, customers and business affairs 
disclosed by one party to the other and in the case of the Provider, includes any information disclosed 
by the Provider concerning or belonging to the Zurich Group;   
 
“Core Services” means the services set out in Schedule 1 (Core Services).  
 
“Data Controller” has the meaning given to it in the Data Protection Act 1998;   
 
“Data Processor” has the meaning given to it in the Data Protection Act 1998;  
 
“Data Protection Laws” means the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Privacy and Electronic 
Communications (EC Directive) Regulations 2003 (as amended) and where applicable, the Data 
Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679; 
 
“Deferred Member” means a Member who is either recorded as “left company” or is recorded as 
“employed” but with a status of “ceased active membership” or “opted out” on their Retirement Account 
and has units allocated to their Retirement Account;  
 
“Effective Date” means the date on which the last signatory to this Agreement executes this 
Agreement; 
 
“Enhancement” means improving and updating the functionality and technology which is designed to 
deliver the Services from time to time in line with Good Industry Practice and technological development; 
 
"Exit Period" means the six (6) month period, or such shorter period of not less than three (3) months 
as the Trustee may direct, following the date on which this Agreement is terminated in accordance with 
Clause 11;  
 
"Ex-Member means a person who was previously either an Active or Deferred Member of the Plan but 
no longer has units allocated to their Retirement Account; 
 
"Exit Plan" means the plan agreed between the parties during the notice period to terminate this 
Agreement in accordance with Clause 12.3;  
 
"FCA" means the Financial Conduct Authority and/or any successor or replacement authority, body or 
organisation responsible for the regulation of relevant financial services firms in the United Kingdom;  

Page 85



 

4 

 

 
“Good Industry Practice” means the exercise of the degree of skill, care and diligence which would 
reasonably and ordinarily be expected from a skilled and experienced product provider engaged in the 
same type of business under the same or similar circumstances; 
 
“HMRC” means HM Revenue & Customs and/ or any successor or replacement authority, body or 
organisation responsible for taxation in the UK;  
 
“Intellectual Property Rights” means copyrights, patents, utility models, trademarks, service marks, 
design rights (whether registered or unregistered), database rights, semiconductor topography rights, 
proprietary information rights and all other proprietary information rights as may exist anywhere in the 
world together with applications associated to any such rights; 
 
“Investment Change Exercise” means an exercise to make changes to the make up of one or more 
existing Lifestyle Investment Profiles and/or the underlying structure or make up of one or more Blended 
Funds and where there are multiple changes these are carried out in the same calendar month; 
 
“Lifestyle Investment Profile” means an investment option that invests in one or more Zurich Pension 
Funds, the mix of which automatically changes relative to the Member's selected retirement age in 
accordance with an agreed investment profile schedule;  
  
“Member” means any member of the Pension Scheme who has a Retirement Account within the Plan 
and is either an Active Member or a Deferred Member;  
 
“Money Purchase Annual Allowance” means the annual limit on the amount of tax relieved savings 
which can be made by, or in respect of, an individual in all defined contribution arrangements under all 
registered pension schemes if they flexibly access defined contribution benefits on or after 6 April 2015; 

“Opt Out” and “Opted Out” means a Member has exercised their Statutory Opt Out Right and opted 
out of the Plan;    
 
“Optional Services” means the services set out in Schedule 2 (Optional Services);  
 
"Participating Employer" means each employer who is formally participating in the Pension Scheme 
and whose details have been provided to the Provider by the Trustee from time to time;  
 
“Paycentre” means a notional part of the Pension Scheme by which employees are segregated as 
regards the administration of the Plan including the maintenance of payroll, for example those on 
different pay periods or at different locations;  
 

"Pay Centre Administrator" means the pay centre administrator(s) appointed by the Trustee to carry 
out the processes that are available on the Platform for a specified Paycentre;  
 
“Pension Input Period” has the meaning given to it in section 238 of the Finance Act 2004; 
  
“Pensions Liberation” means any device or arrangement which permits any of its members to access 
some or all of their pension funds in breach of Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements including, 
for example, permitting the payment of pension monies before normal retirement date where the 
member in question is in good health. 
 
“Pension Scheme” means the Local Government Pension Scheme for the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham which is an occupational pension scheme;  
 
“Personal Data” has the meaning given to it in the Data Protection Act 1998; 
 
“Plan" means the Zurich Occupational Money Purchase Plan (AVC Only) issued by the Provider to the 
Trustee;  
 
“Plan Terms and Conditions” means the terms and conditions of the Plan issued by the Provider to 
the Trustee;  

Page 86



 

5 

 

 
“Platform” means Zurich Money4Life™, the on-line secure transactional portal provided by the 
Platform Operator to provide on-line access to the Plan including the ability to (i) upload information in 
respect of the Plan and Retirement Accounts including Member data, (ii) send payments to the Plan 
and (iii), send buy, sell and switch instructions in respect of the Plan;     
 
“PRA” means the Prudential Regulation Authority and/or any successor or replacement authority, body 
or organisation responsible for the regulation of relevant financial services firms in the United Kingdom; 

“Regulator” means any court, governmental body or regulatory or supervisory authority or organisation 
having authority over all or any part of the Services and shall include the UK Information Commissioner, 
the FCA and/or PRA as applicable, the Pensions Regulator and HMRC;  
 
“Retirement Account” means an account set up under the Plan where Units are allocated to each 
Member;   
 
“Safeguarded Benefits” has the meaning given to it in section 48(8) of the Pension Scheme Act 2015; 
  
“Services” means the Core Services and any Optional Services;  
 
“Short Service Refund” means a payment of the value of a Retirement Account in the event that a 
Member becomes entitled to a short service refund under Applicable Laws and Regulatory 
Requirements;  
 
“Subcontractor” means a third party appointed by the Provider and/ or the Platform Operator from 
time to time to carry out one or more of the Services on their behalf;  
 
“Statutory Opt Out Period” means the period in which Members are able to exercise their Statutory 
Opt Out Right as required by Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements and determined by the 
Provider using estimates of the time it shall take a Member to receive all information required to exercise 
their Statutory Opt Out Right;  
 
“Statutory Opt Out Right” means any right of Members to opt out of the Pension Scheme under 
Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements;  
 
“Termination Date” means the date on which this Agreement terminates on expiry of the Exit Period 
in accordance with the provisions of Clause 12;  
 
“Trust Deed and Rules” means the definitive trust deed and rules governing the Pension Scheme 
from time to time;  
 
“UK” means the United Kingdom of England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales which does not 
include the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands;  
 
“Units” mean the units within each Zurich pension fund used to value the Plan at any time in 
accordance with the Plan Terms and Conditions;  
 
“Utility Services” means the services provided by Zurich Group Pension Services Ltd, a company 
registered in England under company number 05718984 to a Participating Employer as set out in the 
service agreement in place between the Participating Employer and  Zurich Group Pension Services 
Ltd;  
 
“Zurich Group” means Zurich Insurance Group Ltd, a company registered in Switzerland under 
company number CH-020.3.023.083-6, its successors and its direct and indirect subsidiary companies, 
including branches of such subsidiary companies, from time to time;  
 
“Zurich IT Security Policy” means the information technology and security policies of the Provider 
and its Affiliates which are centrally managed by Zurich Insurance Group Ltd as revised and updated 
from time to time; and  
 

Page 87



 

6 

 

“Zurich Pension Fund” means a pension fund that invests in assets which can also be structured as 
a Blended Fund.  
 

1.2 The headings of the Clauses in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect its 
construction or interpretation. References to Clauses and Schedules are references to the clauses and 
schedules to this Agreement. References to Paragraphs are to the paragraphs in the Schedules.  

 
1.3 Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing a gender shall 

include all genders. The words “include” and “including” shall not be construed as words of limitation.  
 
1.4 References to any statute, statutory provision or statutory instrument include a reference to that statute, 

statutory provision or statutory instrument together with all rules and regulations made under it or them 
all as from time to time amended, consolidated or re-enacted. 

 
1.5  If there is a conflict between the definitions in this Agreement and the definitions in the Plan Terms and 

Conditions, the definitions in the Plan Terms and Conditions shall prevail.  
 

1.6     In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and the documents referred to or attached to 
this Agreement (save for the Plan Terms and Conditions) this Agreement shall prevail.  In the event of 
any inconsistency between the Plan Terms and Conditions and the terms of this Agreement, the Plan 
Terms and Conditions shall prevail. 

 
2. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES 

2.1 The parties acknowledge and agree the following:  
 

2.1.1 the Trustee shall enter into this Agreement in its capacity as the current trustee(s) of the 
Pension Scheme with the purpose of securing the provision of the Services;  

2.1.2 the Trustee is, and shall remain, the “scheme administrator” of the Pension Scheme for the 
purposes of section 270 of the Finance Act 2004;  

2.1.3 the Trustee is responsible for ensuring that it complies with its duties under Applicable Laws 
and Regulatory Requirements and those set out in the Trust Deed and Rules;  

2.1.4 the Trustee is responsible for supplying all information relating to the Plan (including Member 
data) in the format specified by the Platform Operator and/ or the Provider and must ensure 
that it is accurate, complete and up to date;  

2.1.5 the Provider and/ or Platform Operator is not required to supply any automatic enrolment 
information to a Member that the Member’s Participating Employer is obliged to supply under 
Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements, including the Pensions Act 2008;  

2.1.6 the Services do not include actuarial services or constitute any of the prescribed functions set 
out in section 47(3) of the Pensions Act 1995;   

2.1.7 the Provider is responsible for:  

(a) investing payments in the Plan;  

(b) processing investment instructions in accordance with the Plan Terms and Conditions;  

(c) paying claims payments to the Platform Operator to satisfy claims made under the 
Plan;  

2.1.8 the Platform Operator is responsible for:   

(a) operating the Platform including its availability on-line via the portal;  

(b) collecting payments via the Platform’s payroll system and paying them to the Provider;   

Page 88



 

7 

 

(c) receiving investment instructions in respect of the Plan and sending them onto the 
Provider;  

(d) processing claims payments received from the Provider and paying these to the 
Trustee and/ or appropriate beneficiaries; and  

2.1.9 nothing in this Agreement shall require, unless any terms within the Schedules specifically 
state otherwise, the Provider to advise the Trustee or a Member where it believes that a 
payment into the Plan or a claims payment out of the Plan is, or may be, a reportable event 
for the purposes of the Finance Act 2004. 

2.2 The Services comprise the Core Services set out in Schedule 1 (Core Services) and the Optional 
Services set out in Schedule 2 (Optional Services). For the avoidance of doubt, some of the Services 
are provided by the Provider and some of the Services are provided by the Platform Operator as set out 
in Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 (Core Services) and Paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 (Optional Services).   

2.3 The Provider is responsible for its provision of the Core Services and any Optional Services in 
accordance with Clause 3.  

2.4 The Platform Operator is responsible for its provision of the Core Services and any Optional Services 
in accordance with Clause 3.  

2.5 In the event of any issue arising in respect of the Provider’s provision of Services and/ or the Platform 
Operator’s provision of Services, the Trustee may contact the Account Manager in the first instance.   

3. PROVISION OF THE SERVICES  

3.1 With effect from the Effective Date and until termination of this Agreement is effected in accordance with 
Clause 11, the Provider and the Platform Operator shall provide the Services to the Trustee in 
accordance with Good Industry Practice and Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements.  

3.2 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall maintain all necessary legal and regulatory authorisations 
and approvals to provide the Services.  

3.3 The Provider and the Platform Operator may delegate the performance of one or part of their Services  
to an Affiliate or a Subcontractor. Where the performance of a Service is delegated to an Affiliate or a 
Subcontractor, the Provider and the Platform Operator (as applicable) shall be responsible for the acts 
and omissions of the Affiliate or Subcontractor as if it were their own act or omission.  

3.4 In addition to any specific obligation under this Agreement, the parties agree to co-operate with each 
other with a view to ensuring the proper and cost effective provision of the Services.  In particular, the 
Provider and the Platform Operator agree to provide to the Trustee such information and explanations 
about the provision of the Services as the Trustee may reasonably require from time to time. 

 
4. APPOINTMENT OF ADMINISTRATORS AND PAYCENTRE ADMINISTRATORS  
 
4.1 The Trustee shall appoint at least two persons to act as an Administrator and at least two persons to 

act as a Paycentre Administrator in respect of the Plan. The Trustee shall notify the Provider of the 
persons that it has appointed and of any change to those appointments as soon as is reasonably 
practicable following the change.  

 
4.2 Where reference is made throughout this Agreement to the Trustee carrying out any of the day to day 

administrative duties in relation to the Plan, this shall include any Administrator or Paycentre 
Administrator where appropriate.  

 
4.3 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall be entitled to act and rely upon any instruction or direction 

provided by an Administrator or Paycentre Administrator including the accuracy of data and/ or 
information concerning a Member supplied by an Administrator, Paycentre Administrator or via the 
Utility Services without reference to the Trustee.  

 

Page 89



 

8 

 

4.4 The Trustee shall at all times remain responsible for the acts and/ or omissions of an Administrator or 
a Paycentre Administrator.  

 
5. DATA PROTECTION  
 
5.1 The parties agree that the Provider and the Platform Operator are Data Controllers in common with the 

Trustee in respect of Personal Data that is uploaded by the Trustee to the Platform: 
 

5.2 Each party confirms that: 
 

5.2.1 it has and shall maintain adequate registrations and notifications required by the Data 
Protection Laws; 

 
5.2.2 it undertakes to comply with the provisions of the Data Protection Laws in so far as they apply 

to each of them; 
 
5.2.3 it shall not do or omit to do anything which would cause any party to be in breach of its 

obligations under the Data Protection Laws; and  

5.2.4 it shall co-operate with each party in so far as is reasonable in complying with any subject 
access request and/or responding to any enquiry made, or investigation or assessment of 
processing initiated by any competent supervisory authority in respect of Personal Data. 

 
5.3 The Trustee authorises the Provider and the Platform Operator to process data (including Personal 

Data) on its behalf for the purpose of providing the Plan and the Services. Where the Provider and the 
Platform Operator process data (including Personal Data), they shall:  

5.3.1 keep the Personal Data confidential and shall not disclose Personal Data to any third party 
without the prior written consent of the Trustee except:  

(a) where required by Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements and/ or a 
Regulator to disclose the Personal Data; 

(b) where disclosure to an Affiliate or a Subcontractor is necessary to enable the Affiliate 
or Subcontractor to carry out any of the Services;  

5.3.2 not transfer Personal Data outside of the European Economic Area (other than any country 
deemed adequate by the European Commission pursuant to Article 25(b) of Directive 
95/46/EC) without the prior written consent of the Trustee, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed. 

5.4 The Trustee authorises the Provider and the Platform Operator to market its products and services to 
Members provided such marketing activity is carried out in accordance with Applicable Laws and 
Regulatory Requirements including any requirements of the Data Protection Laws and their respective 
privacy policies.  
 

5.5 The Trustee authorises the Provider and the Platform Operator to share relevant data and information 
concerning the Plan and the Pension Scheme including Personal Data belonging to Members with each 
other and with their Affiliates within the Zurich Group strictly for the following purposes:  

5.5.1 data matching and data validation;  

5.5.2 to ensure the effective provision of the Services;  

5.5.3 to allow effective business administration and governance;  

5.5.4 direct marketing to Members where permitted by Applicable Laws and Regulatory 
Requirements (including any requirements of the Data Protection Laws) and in strict 
accordance with the privacy policy published by the Affiliate; and  

Page 90



 

9 

 

  5.4.5 as otherwise permitted by the Data Protection Laws.  

5.6 The Trustee acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring that it complies with any requirements 
required of the Data Protection Laws to permit the Trustee to send Member data and  information 
(including any Personal Data) to the Provider and the Platform Operator as contemplated by this 
Agreement. 
 

5.7 The Trustee acknowledges that the Provider and the Platform Operator may carry out such processing 
themselves or through an Affiliate or a Subcontractor. In carrying out such processing, the Provider and 
the Platform Operator shall, and shall procure that their agents, Affiliates and Subcontractors: 

 
5.7.1 take appropriate technical and organisational measures to prevent the unauthorised or 

unlawful processing of Personal Data and against the accidental loss or destruction of, or 
damage to, Personal Data; and 

 
5.7.2 process any Personal Data promptly and accurately so that the data is kept up to date and 

accurate.  
 
5.8 Where processing is carried out by an Affiliate or a Subcontractor, the Provider and the Platform 

Operator (as applicable) shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of the Affiliate or Subcontractor 
as if it were their own act or omission.  

5.9 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall provide the Trustee with such information as it may from 
time to time reasonably request to enable the Trustee to comply with, assess or verify its compliance 
with its obligations as a Data Controller in common under the Data Protection Laws and to meet any 
subject access requests under the Data Protection Laws. 

 
5.10 If a Member gives a data protection opt out notice regarding direct marketing to the Trustee, then the 

Trustee undertakes as soon as practicable to notify the Zurich Data Privacy Manager, Tricentre One, 
New Bridge Square, Swindon SN1 1HN.  

 
5.11 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall ensure that it has best practice data and information 

security policies and measures in place as set out in the Zurich IT Security Policy. 
 
6. CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
6.1 The parties shall keep confidential all Confidential Information which comes into their possession or 

control and shall not copy or disclose the Confidential Information to any third party without the prior 
written consent of the other party. 

 
6.2 A party shall be permitted to disclose Confidential Information belonging to the other party (including 

the terms of this Agreement and Personal Data) to its Affiliates, personnel, agents, contractors, 
Subcontractors and professional advisers only as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of complying 
with that party's obligations under this Agreement, provided that the disclosing party ensures that the 
individual or entity is obliged to keep the Confidential Information confidential on terms at least 
equivalent to those set out in this Clause 6. 

 
6.3 The provisions of this Clause 6 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which is: 
 

6.3.1 or becomes public knowledge other than by breach of this Agreement; 

6.3.2 received from a third party who lawfully acquired it and who is under no obligation restricting 
its disclosure; or 

6.3.3 independently developed. 

6.4 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall use reasonable endeavours to preserve the records 
and other property of the Trustees that it has in its possession or control against loss by fire, burglary, 
accidental removal or computer failure. 

Page 91



 

10 

 

6.5 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that their 
computer hardware and software systems are adequate to protect against any corruption, 
degradation or loss to the Trustees records or property. The Provider and the Platform Operator shall 
be responsible for maintaining back-ups of records in electronic format and keeping the records 
secure.  

7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS  
 
7.1 Each party acknowledges and agrees that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, it does not 

by virtue of this Agreement obtain any rights to use, or any other rights in or to, any Intellectual Property 
Rights belonging to the other party. 

 
7.2 Should the Trustee require the Provider and the Platform Operator to use and/ or reproduce any form 

of Intellectual Property Rights in relation to the Pension Scheme, it shall ensure that it has obtained 
appropriate authority from the owner of the Intellectual Property Rights to grant a non-exclusive, royalty-
free, irrevocable licence to the Provider and the Platform Operator to use and reproduce the Intellectual 
Property Rights for the duration of this Agreement.  

 
8. CHARGES FOR SERVICES 

 
8.1 The charges for the provision of the Core Services and any Optional Services chosen by the Trustee 

are included in the charges applied under the Plan in accordance with the Plan Terms and Conditions. 
The charges that apply are set out in the Charges and Funds Schedule.  
 

8.2 Should the Trustee request that the Provider or the Platform Operator (as applicable) provide any other 
service which is not a Core Service or an Optional Service, the Provider or the Platform Operator (as 
applicable) may charge the Trustee a fee for providing the service. The fee shall be calculated using a 
standard charge rate. The standard charge rate at the Effective Date is £73.80 per hour plus VAT which 
shall increase at the end of each calendar year by an amount equal to the latest Average Weekly 
Earnings rate published by the Office for National Statistics divided by the Average Weekly Earnings 
rate published by the Office of National Statistics for the previous end of calendar year.  

 
8.3 Following receipt of a request to provide a service, the Provider or Platform Operator (as applicable) 

shall assess the individual request and record on a requisition form the following information:  

8.3.1 detail of the request; 

8.3.2 background information; 

8.3.3 a full breakdown of the work to be carried out; and 

8.3.4 a full breakdown of the fee. 

8.4 The requisition form shall be presented to the Trustee for authorisation to proceed. Once authorisation 
has been given by the Trustee, the Provider or Platform Operator (as applicable) and the Trustee shall 
agree reasonable timescales to complete the work.   

8.5 The fee for the provision of the service shall be paid in a manner agreed between the Provider or the 
Platform Operator (as applicable) and the Trustee.  

8.6 Should the Trustee request changes to the investment options made available to Members under the 
Plan following the Effective Date, the Provider shall:  

8.6.1 charge a fee of £5,125 for each new Zurich Pension Fund to be made available that is not set 
up as a Blended Fund;  

8.6.2 charge a fee of £9,225 if a new Zurich Pension Fund is to be set up as a Blended Fund;  

8.6.3 charge a fee of £2,050 for the set up of each new Lifestyle Investment Profile;  

Page 92



 

11 

 

8.6.4 action one Investment Change Exercise to the Lifestyle Investment Profiles and/ or to the 
underlying structure or make up of the Blended Funds in any twenty four (24) month period at 
no additional cost; and  

8.6.5 if more than one Investment Change Exercise is requested in any twenty four (24) month 
period, the Provider shall charge a fee of £2,050 in respect of any further individual changes 
to a Lifestyle Investment Profile or a Blended Fund;  

8.7 Where a Blended Fund is used within a Lifestyle Investment Profile, changing the make up of the 
Blended Fund will not count as a change to the make up of the Lifestyle Investment Profile.  

8.8 The fees in respect of Investment Change Exercises shall be applied such that the exercise which 
would otherwise have incurred the highest fee during any twenty four (24) month period shall be the 
one provided at no additional cost in the period, as referred to in Clause 8.6.4. 

8.9 The fees set out in Clause 8.6 are exclusive of VAT (which will be added as applicable) and shall 
increase at the end of each calendar year by the increase in the National Average Weekly Earnings 
Index for the whole economy as published by the Office for National Statistics during that calendar 
year.     

8.10 The Provider shall invoice the Trustee for payment of any fees that become due and payable under 
Clause 8.6.  

8.11 If the Trustee fails to pay any amount due and payable to the Provider under this Agreement, the 
Provider shall be entitled to charge interest on the overdue amount from the due date up to the date 
of actual payment, after as well as before judgment, at the rate of two (2) per cent per annum above 
the base rate for the time being of the Bank of England. Such interest shall accrue on a daily basis 
and shall be payable by the Trustee on demand. 

 
9. VARIATION TO CHARGES AND SERVICES 
 
9.1 The Provider may vary, increase or introduce new charges applied under the Plan in accordance with 

the Plan Terms and Conditions.  
 

9.2 The Provider may also vary, increase or introduce new charges applied under the Plan in the event that 
a Participating Employer commences or ceases to use the Utility Services.  

 
9.3 The Provider and the Platform Operator may vary their Services to the extent necessary to:   
 

9.3.1 comply with changes to Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements;  
 
9.3.2 comply with a decision of a court, governmental body, ombudsmen, regulator, industry body 

or other similar body; 
 
9.3.3 reflect changes in Good Industry Practice or the general business environment; and  
 
9.3.4 administer the Services with greater efficiency.  
 

9.4 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall endeavour to provide three (3) months' written notice to 
the Trustee of any variation to the Services. Where this is not possible, the Provider or the Platform 
Operator (as applicable) shall notify the Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable. 
 

9.5 The Provider and the Platform Operator may cease to provide any Service which the Trustee has not 
used for a period of twenty four (24) months upon providing three (3) months’ written notice to the 
Trustee.  

 
9.6 The Provider and the Platform Operator may cease to provide any Service as a result of changes in 

Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements and shall endeavour to provide three (3) months' written 

Page 93



 

12 

 

notice to the Trustee. Where this is not possible, the Provider or the Platform Operator (as applicable) 
shall notify the Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable.  

 
9.7 The Provider may cease to provide any Optional Service set out in Schedule 2 (Optional Services) and/ 

or increase the charges applied under the Plan in the event that there is a significant fall in the amount 
of regular payments being made in to the Plan or AUM following the Effective Date upon providing three 
(3) months’ written notice to the Trustee. 

10. CEASING PAYMENTS TO THE PLAN 
 
10.1 Where payments to the Plan cease, for as long as Deferred Members remain secured under the Plan: 
 

10.1.1 the Provider and the Platform Operator shall continue to provide such of the Services that are 
relevant to the ongoing servicing of the Plan; and 

10.1.2 the Trustee shall continue to carry out its obligations under this Agreement that are relevant to 
the ongoing servicing of the Plan. 

11. TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT 
 
11.1 The Provider may terminate this Agreement in respect of all or parts of the Services (including those 

Services provided by the Platform Operator) at any time by giving not less than twelve (12) months' 
written notice to the Trustee.  

 
11.2 The Trustee may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving not less than twelve (12) months’ 

written notice to the Provider.   
 
11.3 Where notice is given to terminate this Agreement in accordance with this Clause 11, the Provider and 

the Platform Operator shall be obliged to continue to provide those Services which the Trustee requires 
for the duration of the Exit Period, and in accordance with the Exit Plan, to facilitate the transfer of the 
Services to the Trustee and/or a substitute provider (as directed by the Trustee). For the avoidance of 
doubt, the provisions of this Agreement shall continue in force and govern the provision of the Services 
by the Provider and the Platform Operator unless otherwise agreed between the parties. In such event, 
the parties shall continue to comply with their obligations under this Agreement during the Exit Period. 

 
11.4 This Agreement shall terminate automatically when there are no benefits remaining in the Plan. For the 

avoidance of doubt, no benefits remaining in the Plan means that all claims payments have been fully 
paid to the appropriate beneficiaries.   

 
12. CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION AND EXIT 
 
12.1 The termination of this Agreement by the Provider or the Trustee is without prejudice to any other rights 

and remedies of that party (whether arising out of, in connection with or relating to this Agreement or 
otherwise). 

 
12.2 The termination or expiry of this Agreement shall not affect the accrued rights and liabilities of the parties 

or the enforceability of any provisions of this Agreement that are intended to remain in force after its 
termination. The parties agree that Clauses 5 (Data Protection), 6 (Confidentiality), 7 (Intellectual 
Property Rights), 13 (Liability and Indemnity), 14 (Dispute Resolution), 20 (Assignment) and 23 (Third 
Party Rights) are intended to, and shall survive, termination.  

 
12.3 The parties shall agree an Exit Plan during the notice period following receipt of written notice to 

terminate this Agreement under Clauses 11.1 or 11.2. Upon expiry of such notice period, the parties 
shall start the implementation of the Exit Plan in accordance with its terms and the parties shall comply 
with the obligations set out in the Exit Plan. 

 
12.4 During the Exit Period, and notwithstanding the Exit Plan, the Provider and the Platform Operator shall 

give all reasonable assistance to the Trustee and shall cooperate fully with the Trustee's requests in 
relation to the transfer of the Services to the Trustee or to another provider chosen by the Trustee, 

Page 94



 

13 

 

including (but not limited to) providing all such information relating to the Services and the Plan as the 
Trustees may reasonably require to achieve a smooth transition of the Services. 

 
12.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Trustee may at any time, whether before or 

after termination of the Plan, disclose any information (other than Confidential Information of the 
Provider unless the Provider has specifically consented to any such disclosure in writing) relating to the 
Services, the charges, the costs and arrangements involved in the provision of the Services (including 
any arrangements under the Exit Plan) and the transfer of the provision of the Services to: 

 
12.5.1 any potential or actual substitute provider; and 
 
12.5.2 any other person for the purpose of the potential or actual appointment of any substitute 

provider (including as part of any tender process for the provision of the Services or any similar 
services) and/or the provision of the Services or any similar services by one or more substitute 
providers. 

 
13. LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY 
 
13.1 The parties shall be liable for and indemnify each other against, all direct losses, costs, claims, damages 

and reasonable expenses arising out of any breach of their obligations under the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
13.2 The parties shall not be liable to the other for: 
 

13.2.1 any indirect or consequential loss, damages or costs; or 
 

13.2.2 loss of profit, loss of revenue, loss of business, loss of anticipated savings or damage to 
goodwill, in each case if and to the extent such loss is indirect loss, 

 
arising out of any breach of their obligations under this Agreement. 

 
13.3 Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or exclude the parties’ liability for fraud, fraudulent 

misrepresentation or any other conduct that may not be excluded by law.  
 
13.4 Notwithstanding Clause 13.1 and Clause 13.2, the Trustee’s aggregate liability to the Platform Operator 

and to the Provider in respect of any and all claims for loss, damages or costs arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement (including as a result of breach of contract, negligence or any other tort, 
under statute or otherwise and including under any indemnity) shall not exceed £1,000,000 (one million 
pounds sterling).  

 
13.5 Notwithstanding Clause 13.1 and Clause 13.2, the combined aggregate liability of the Provider and the 

Platform Operator to the Trustee for any and all claims for loss, damages or costs arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement (including as a result of breach of contract, negligence or any other tort, 
under statute or otherwise and including under any indemnity) shall not exceed £1,000,000 (one million 
pounds sterling).  

 
13.6 The provisions of this Clause 13 shall apply regardless of any exoneration or indemnity that may be 

available to the Trustee, whether under the Trust Deed and Rules, Applicable Laws and Regulatory 
Requirements or otherwise.  

 
13.7 In the event that the Provider deals directly with a Member when carrying out its obligations under a 

Service (including any Service where the Trustee has delegated authority to the Provider to act on the 
Trustee's behalf), the Trustee shall fully discharge the Provider from any and all liability in the provision 
of such Service to the Member provided that the Provider has carried out the Service in accordance with 
the terms of the Service. 

 

Page 95



 

14 

 

14. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
14.1 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall not negotiate on any dispute arising between a Member 

and the Trustee other than to provide factual information to any party (unless restricted in law from doing 
so).  

 
14.2 If any dispute arises between the parties in connection with this Agreement, the parties (including any 

person appointed to negotiate on a party’s behalf) shall use all reasonable endeavours to settle it by 
negotiation. 

 
14.3 If the parties are unable to settle the dispute by negotiation within thirty (30) Business Days of the 

dispute arising, either party may refer the dispute to mediation in accordance with the published rules 
of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR). The commencement of mediation shall not 
prevent the parties from commencing or continuing with court proceedings but neither party may 
withdraw from mediation until each party has made its opening presentation and the mediator has met 
each party separately for at least two hours. The cost of mediation shall be shared equally between the 
parties. 

 
15. FORCE MAJEURE 

 
No party shall be responsible for any loss or damage suffered by the others, or for any failure to fulfil its 
obligations under this Agreement, if such loss, damage or failure is caused by, or is directly or indirectly 
due to, any cause beyond its control.  The parties shall use their reasonable endeavours to minimise 
the effects of such loss, damage or failure. 

 
16. NON-EXCLUSIVITY 
 

Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Platform Operator or the Provider from providing the same 
or similar services provided under this Agreement to any other person, firm or company. The Provider 
and the Platform Operator shall not be deemed to be effected with notice of, or be under a duty to 
disclose to, the Trustee any fact or thing which may come to its attention, or the attention of any of its 
directors, officers, employees or agents, through rendering the same or similar services in the course 
of its business, or in any other capacity, or in any manner whatsoever, other than in the course of 
carrying out its duties under this Agreement. 

 
17. ANTI-BRIBERY  
 
17.1 The Provider and the Platform Operator undertake that during the term of this Agreement they shall not 

engage in, or consent to, any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under the 
Bribery Act 2010.  

17.2 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall at all times have in place adequate procedures designed 
to prevent any person performing services for or on behalf of the Provider, including any Subcontractor, 
from committing an offence under the Bribery Act 2010. 

18. VARIATION 
 

No variation of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and signed by an authorised 
representative of each party. 

 
19. NOTICE  
 
19.1 The Trustee must serve all notices contemplated by this Agreement on the Provider and the Platform 

Operator by sending the notice by pre-paid first class post to the Provider’s registered office marked for 
the attention of the Company Secretary. For the avoidance of doubt, notice served on the Provider shall 
be deemed notice served on the Platform Operator.  

19.2 The Provider and the Platform Operator shall serve all notices contemplated by this Agreement on the 
Trustee by sending the notice by pre-paid first class post to the Trustee’s of address.  

Page 96



 

15 

 

20. ASSIGNMENT 
 
20.1 This Agreement shall be binding on the parties and their respective successors and assigns. No party 

may, or shall have the power to, assign the Agreement without the prior written consent of the other 
parties which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

 
20.2 Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Provider from effecting a transfer of its rights and obligations 

under this Agreement to another member of the Zurich Group, whether by novation or pursuant to Part 
VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. 

 
21. NO WAIVER  
 

Any failure to exercise or any delay in exercising a right or remedy provided by this Agreement shall not 
constitute a waiver of the right or remedy or a waiver of any other rights or remedies. A waiver of a right 
or remedy under this Agreement shall only be valid if it is made in writing and signed by an authorised 
representative of the relevant party.  
 

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement, including any terms and conditions, appendices or documents referred to in or 
attached to this Agreement or associated with the Plan, constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties in relation to the Services and supersedes all previous agreements in relation to the Services. 
 

23. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  
 

A person who is not a party to this Agreement has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 
Act 1999 to enforce any provision of this Agreement.   

 
24. COUNTERPARTS  

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the Parties on separate 
counterparts, all of which when taken together shall constitute one single agreement between the 
Parties. The transmission of an executed signature page of a counterpart of this Agreement in PDF by 
e-mail shall take effect as delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement. Each Party shall 
provide the other with the original of such counterpart as soon as reasonably practicable following the 
transmission of the counterpart in PDF by in e-mail.  

  
25. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

 
This Agreement is subject to English law and the English courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction in 
relation to all matters arising out of this Agreement, for which purposes the parties submit to such 
jurisdiction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 

16 

 

This Agreement is signed on behalf of the parties on date appearing page 2 of this Agreement  
 
 
SIGNED by a duly authorised representative  
for and on behalf of      
STERLING ISA MANAGERS LIMITED   ……………………………………………….. 
       
 
    Print Name ………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
 
SIGNED by a duly authorised representative  
for and on behalf of      
ZURICH ASSURANCE LTD     ……………………………………………….. 
  
       
    Print Name ………………………………………………… 

 
 
 
 
SIGNED by a duly authorised representative  
for and on behalf of      
THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF  
THE LONDON BOROUGH OF  
HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM  ……………………………………………….. 
       
 
    Print Name ………………………………………………… 
 

Page 98



 

1 

 

Schedule 1 
(Core Services) 

 
1.1 In order to provide the Plan, the Provider shall provide the following Core Services: 
 

A1.1, A1.2, A1.3, A1.6, A1.7, A1.15.1, A1.15.2, A1.15.3, A1.15.4, A1.17.2, A1.18.1, A1.21, A1.22, A1.24, A1.25, A1.26.1, A1.27, A1.29.1, A1.29.3, A1.31, 
A1.32, A1.40  
 

1.2 To the extent that a Service is to be delivered online and includes the processing of information and data, payments (including claims payments) and 
associated record keeping in respect of the Plan and Retirement Accounts, the Platform Operator shall provide the following Core Services: 
 
A1.7, A1.8, A1.9.1, A1.9.2, A1.10, A1.11, A1.12, A1.14, A1.15.1, A1.15.2, A1.15.3, A1.15.4, A1.17.2, A1.20, A1.21, A1.22, A1.24, A1.29.1, A1.40 
 

1.3 Core Services:  
 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.1 Account Manager 
 
The Provider shall assign an Account Manager to the Plan. The Account Manager shall: 

 establish and maintain regular dialogue with the Trustee and Administrators as appropriate, in order 

to discuss activity, complaints, unsettled death claims and emerging issues on the Plan; 

 work with the Trustee and Administrators to ensure that any issues that arise during the lifetime of the 

Plan are resolved quickly;  

 provide an agreed level of training to the Trustee and Administrators on the Platform’s systems and 

processes.  Training of any subsequent nominated person or third party may be subject to payment 

of a fee;  

 arrange seminars for Members and potential Members of the Plan to explain the features and benefits 

of membership;  and 

 attend Pension Scheme meetings and annual review meetings if requested by the Trustee. The 

management information to be presented to the Trustee shall be agreed between the Provider and 

the Trustee prior to the relevant meeting. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Account Manager shall not provide financial advice.  

Agreement between the 
Provider and 
Administrators 
regarding training 
requirements. 
 
Request by the Trustee 
for Account Manager 
attendance at Pension 
Scheme meetings. 
 
 

P
age 99



 

2 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.2 Set up of Plan (1) 

 

The Provider shall supply the following Plan set up documentation: 

 Plan application;  

 This Service Agreement; and 

 Plan Terms and Conditions.  

 

Once documents are completed and signed the Provider shall set up the Plan, funds and lifestyle 

investment option(s) requested by the Trustee. 

Acceptance of Zurich 
Assurance Ltd as the 
Provider of the Plan, 
and receipt of set up 
documents fully and 
accurately completed. 
 
Agreement by the 
Provider that the funds 
and lifestyle investment 
option(s) requested by 
the Trustee can be set 
up. 

A1.3 Plan literature (51f),  

 

The Provider shall produce and make the following Plan literature items available to view online: 

 Fund Fact Sheets 

 A guide to selecting pension funds 

 

In addition, if requested by the Trustee, the Provider shall make the following literature items available to 

view online or for Members to request by phone: 

 Member booklet/guide 

 Expression of Wish form 

 
In addition, the Provider can arrange for any of the items listed above to be printed in bulk by a third 
party supplier should the Trustee or a Participating Employer request copies in order to distribute to 
Members.  The Trustee or Participating Employer making the request shall be responsible for meeting 
the costs of any printing and shall deal directly with the printer in settling any amount due for that work.  
Printed items will be distributed to one agreed location only. 

Request by a 
Participating Employer 
or Trustee. 
 
Agreement between the 
Provider and the 
Trustee/ Administrator 
regarding timescales 
and location for delivery 
of bulk literature items 
and fees to be paid. 

A1.4 Not applicable  

A1.5 Not applicable   

P
age 100



 

3 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.6 Scheme governance reports (82) 

 

The Provider shall provide a quarterly report to the Trustee containing the following information specific to 

the Plan: 

 membership movement details in the reporting period;  

 payments made to the Plan in the reporting period;  

 Support Centre performance against Service standards; 

 details of complaints received in the reporting period; and  

 investment fund performance for investment funds being used. 

 

The Provider shall also send an annual data quality report to the Trustee to assist it in measuring the 

presence and accuracy of Member data in line with the Pensions Regulator’s guidance for scheme record 

keeping. This report shall show details regarding Members with Units under the Plan only. 

 

A1.7 
 
 

Error correction (63) 

 

The Provider and the Platform Operator shall correct records where an error has been made. 

 

Where the error was caused by incorrect information supplied to the Provider or Platform Operator, the 

Provider shall charge the Trustee a fee to cover its administration costs, and will advise the Trustee of the 

amount the Trustee shall need to pay in order to correct the unit holding where additional units need to be 

purchased.  

The Provider 
calculating costs and 
timescale for error 
correction and approval 
and payment by the 
Trustee. 

A1.8 Member upload (3) 

 

Administrators can submit new Member records and re-joiners for each Paycentre online.  Automated 

validation of the data supplied shall be carried out and any invalid records shall be highlighted for 

correction.  

 

Once data is confirmed as valid the Administrator can submit the data to be uploaded to create 

Retirement Accounts for new Members. For new Members, the Member’s investment strategy shall be 

set initially to the Plan’s default investment strategy. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Plan shall only ever hold one Retirement Account for a Member 

regardless of whether a Member claims under the Plan and subsequently re-joins or a Member has more 

than one employment record or several different periods of employment with a Participating Employer.  

Provision of a complete 
and accurate data file, 
in a format prescribed 
by the Platform 
Operator. 
 
 

P
age 101



 

4 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.9.1 Re-joiner payments In to the Plan 

 

Where a Deferred Member or an Ex-Member who has a Retirement Account is required to become an 

Active Member the Platform Operator shall reactivate the Retirement Account in an active Paycentre as 

instructed by the Trustee. 

 

Where a Deferred Member is reactivated as Active their investment strategy for future regular payments 

shall be automatically re-set initially to the Plan’s default investment strategy.  The investment strategy for 

the existing assets under their Retirement Account will not be automatically changed. 

 

Where an Ex-Member is reactivated as Active their investment strategy shall be re-set initially to the Plan’s 

default investment strategy. 

Clear instruction. 
 
 

A1.9.2 Reinstatement of a Member as Active where the Member was made Deferred in error 

 

The Platform Operator cannot accept payments to a Retirement Account unless the Member is an Active 

Member. If the Member is not an Active Member and there are outstanding payments due as a result of 

an administration error made by the Trustee the Trustee shall be charged a fee to cover the Platform 

Operator’s administration costs to temporarily reinstate the record as active in order to accept the 

payments.  

Clear instruction. 
 
Receipt of fee charged 
for a temporary 
reinstatement. 

A1.10 Welcome letters, login and password issued to Members and Administrators (140) 

 

The Platform Operator shall issue a standard welcome letter to new Members of the Plan. The welcome 

letter shall include the Member’s login ID. The Platform Operator shall also send a password to the Member 

under separate cover. 

 

The Platform Operator shall also send Administrators and Paycentre Administrators their own login ID and 

password details. 

 

P
age 102



 

5 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.11 Payments through the Platform’s payroll system 

 

The Platform Operator shall make available a customer self-service facility for Administrators and 

Paycentre Administrators using the Platform’s payroll system. 

 

Separate Paycentres can be supported.   

 

Online validation checks shall ensure that payments through the Platform’s payroll system can only be 

made for Active Members.  

 

All regular and single payments shall be collected by the Platform Operator by a Participating Employer or 

Trustee controlled Direct Debit only. 

 

Provided that any payments are due for a Paycentre, the Trustee shall be notified if no payments are 

received for a Paycentre within 31 days of the statutory due date. 

 

A1.12 Transfer in processing via Administrators (68c) 

 

The Platform Operator shall make available a transfer upload file template to Administrators in order for 

data related to transfer in payments to be supplied.  Any information omitted cannot be supplied at a later 

date. 

 

Completion of the transfer shall require a correctly completed upload file together with the transfer payment 

and any supporting documentation. 

 

Where agreed for a particular bulk transfer exercise the Platform Operator shall transition Member unit 

holdings from ceding arrangements in a way which minimises out of market risk relating to the investments.  

Agreement from the 
Trustee to the transition 
strategy, necessary 
legal documents 
completed prior to 
transition, agreement 
from Fund Managers 
and other third parties 
as applicable. 

A1.13 Not applicable  

P
age 103



 

6 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.14 Online bulk change data upload (151) 
 
Administrators can submit bulk changes to the data held on the Platform for existing Members online.  
 
Items that can be amended using this process include the following: 

 personal details such as name and title 

 contact details 

 payment basis 

 pensionable salary 

 selected retirement age 

 leaver notification (cease active membership, left company) 

 salary sacrifice indicator 

 pay centre 

 employee payroll reference 

 employment start date 

 country of residence 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, change data must be clearly identified, a download of full Member records is 

not acceptable. 

Provision of data in a 
format prescribed by 
the Platform Operator. 
 
 

A1.15.1 Processing change of personal and contact details requests received directly from Members 

(“Change Request”) (40tbd) 

 

The Platform Operator can action a Change Request online or by phone.  For the avoidance of doubt, the 

Provider will not accept a Change Request in writing.  

 

Where Change Requests are actioned under this Service online, the Platform Operator shall notify the 

Administrators via an employee changes report.  Requests actioned by phone are not included in the 

employee changes report. 

 

The Trustee has instructed the Provider and Platform Operator not to deal direct with Members in respect 

of such Change Requests.  There will be no online availability for Members to make such changes and 

where a Member requests the Provider to make a change directly the Provider shall inform them that the 

Trustee has instructed the Provider not to action such requests and instead to refer them to the 

Administrators. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, changes of date of birth shall be excluded from this Service and shall be 

referred to the Administrators, as error correction may be necessary. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction from the 
Member. 
 
 

P
age 104



 

7 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.15.2 Processing change of selected retirement age requests received directly from Members (“Change 

SRA Requests”) (40t) 

 

The Platform Operator can action Change SRA Requests online or by phone.  For the avoidance of doubt, 

the Provider will not accept Change SRA Requests in writing. 
 
Such online Change SRA Requests shall only be actioned if the new selected retirement age falls within 
the parameters allowed for the Member under the Plan.   
 

Where Change SRA Requests are actioned under this Service online, the Platform Operator shall notify 

the Administrators via an employee changes report.  Change SRA Requests actioned by phone are not 

included in the employee changes report. 

 

The Trustee has instructed the Provider and Platform Operator not to deal direct with Members in respect 

of such Change SRA Requests.  There will be no online availability for Members to make such changes 

and where a Member requests the Provider to make a change directly the Provider shall inform them that 

the Trustee has instructed the Provider not to action such requests and instead to refer them to the 

Administrators. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction from the 
Member. 
 

A1.15.3 Processing change contribution basis requests received directly from Active Members (“CCB 

Requests”) (40tbd) 

 

The Platform Operator can action CCB Requests online provided they do not have salary sacrifice 

recorded on their Retirement Account.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Provider will not accept CCB 

Requests by phone or in writing. 

 

Where CCB Requests are actioned under this Service online, the Platform Operator shall notify the 

Administrators via an employee changes report. 

 

The Trustee has instructed the Provider and Platform Operator not to deal direct with Members in respect 

of such CCB Requests.  There will be no online availability for Members to make such changes and where 

a Member requests the Provider to make a change directly the Provider shall inform them that the Trustee 

has instructed the Provider not to action such requests and instead to refer them to the Administrators. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, Deferred Members cannot request the Platform Operator or Provider to change 

their contribution basis, and if they make such requests they will be referred to the Administrators. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction from the 
Member. 
 

P
age 105



 

8 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.15.4 Processing cease active membership requests received directly from Active Members (“CAM 
Requests”)(224) 
 

The Platform Operator can action CAM Requests online and the Provider can action CAM requests by 

phone. 
 
Such requests can only be actioned from the period the Active Member is no longer eligible to Opt Out 
under Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements. 
 

Where requests are actioned under this Service, the Platform Operator shall notify the Administrators. 
The Trustee has instructed the Provider and Platform Operator not to deal direct with Members in respect 
of such CAM Requests.  There will be no online availability for Members to make such changes and where 
a Member requests the Provider to make a change directly the Provider shall inform them that the Trustee 
has instructed the Provider not to action such requests and instead to refer them to the Administrators. 

 

A1.16 Not applicable  

A1.17.1 Not applicable  

A1.17.2 Scheme Pays facility 

 
The Provider and the Platform Operator shall accept instructions from the Trustee to pay a Member’s 
Annual Allowance Tax Charge or Money Purchase Annual Allowance Tax Charge from the Member’s 
Retirement Account subject to the request meeting HMRC’s conditions for Scheme Pays to apply. 
 
The Provider shall pay the proceeds of the units disinvested to the Trustee in order for the Trustee to 
account to HMRC in respect of the tax. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, this Service does not cover the paying of the Member’s annual allowance 
charge on a voluntary basis.  

Receipt of authorisation 
from the Trustees to 
apply Scheme Pays. 

A1.18.1 
 
 

Divorce – Recording earmarking orders (18) and splitting (17) 

 

The Provider shall record an indicator against a Member where the Trustee advises that an earmarking 

order is in place. 

 

The Provider shall process a request to transfer units out of a Retirement Account if instructed to do so by 

the Trustee as a result of a Pension Share Order.   

The Trustee must 
provide a valid 
earmarking order to the 
Provider. 
 
Clear instruction from 
the Trustee. 

A1.18.2 Not applicable  

A1.19 Not used  

P
age 106



 

9 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.20 Concurrent Scheme indicator (181) 

 

The Platform Operator shall record a Concurrent Scheme Indicator marked as “Yes” for a Retirement 

Account if requested to do so.  No details of the concurrent Scheme are recorded. 

 

If the indicator is set to “Yes”, a statement that the Member is in another scheme for the same Participating 

Employer shall be included in the Member’s annual benefit statement and in leaver letters if issued.  

Instruction from Trustee 
or Administrators that 
an indicator is required. 

A1.21 
 
 

Annual benefit statements (7) 

 
The Provider will produce and forward annual benefit statements directly to Member’s addresses. 
  
The following shall apply:  

 recent copies of the relevant annual benefit statement produced by the Provider shall be available for 

Members to view on the Platform;   

 the benefit statement shall be of standard format and content. Plan specific tailoring is not supported, 

neither is the inclusion of Plan specific inserts with the statement; 

 statements for Members who are not recorded on the Platform as Employed which are returned “gone 

away” shall be subject to the Provider’s current gone away tracing process; and  

 statements for Members who are recorded on the Platform as Employed which are returned “gone 

away” shall be forwarded to Administrators to pass on to the Member.  

  
 

A1.22 Investment switches and redirections 

 

The Platform Operator shall accept instructions from Members online, and the Provider shall accept 

instructions from Members by phone or in writing to change the investment strategy on their Retirement 

Account for existing funds and or future payments. 

 

In addition the Provider will accept instructions from Administrators by phone or in writing to change the 

investment strategy on Member’s Retirement Accounts. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction in required 
format from Members or 
Administrators.  

A1.23 Not applicable  

A1.24 Provide fund values and illustrations requested directly by a Member or authorised third party (40e) 

 

Where requested by a Member or authorised third party the Provider and the Platform Operator shall: 

 generate an up to date illustration using a basis determined by the Provider and will print and despatch 

to the requestor;  

 advise the requestor verbally or in writing of the current value of their Retirement Account; and 

 advise the requestor verbally or in writing of a previous value of their Retirement Account at a specified 

date, provided such date is after the commencement of the Retirement Account. 

Receipt of clear and 
valid instruction. 
 

P
age 107



 

10 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.25 
 
 

Member complaint handling 

 

The Provider shall determine the basis for complaints received from Members that relate to the provision 

of Services by the Provider or the Platform Operator, including any complaints relating to literature items. 

Any complaints not related to the Services or literature items shall be passed to the Trustee for 

resolution. 

 

Complaints from a Member in relation to a Participating Employer or the Trustee, payment amounts, and 

pensionable salary values shall be referred to the Trustee for resolution. 

 

The Provider shall make a copy of the Trustees Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure available to 

Members online. 

Receipt of complaint. 
 
Trustee to supply the 
Provider with an up to 
date copy of their 
Internal Dispute 
Resolution Procedure.  
 

A1.26.1 Initiation of retirement claims at selected retirement age 

 

The Provider shall issue standard “wake up” letters and forms to agreed recipients in accordance with 

Applicable Laws and Regulatory Requirements. 

Agreement of recipients 
between the Provider 
and Trustee. 

A1.27 Correspondence returned as Gone Away 

 

Where correspondence issued to Members by the Provider or Platform Operator is returned marked “gone 

away” the Provider shall forward such correspondence to the Administrators to pass on to the Member 

and request the Administrators to supply an up to date address via the bulk change data upload. 

 

A1.28 Not applicable  

P
age 108



 

11 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.29.1 Retirement claim 

 

The Provider shall sell Units in the Retirement Account and pay the value in accordance with the Trustee’s 

instructions.  

 

The Provider shall calculate and the Platform Operator shall record and keep a history of the percentage 

of the Member’s Standard Lifetime Allowance used in respect of claims from the Plan only. 

 

The Provider shall not advise the Trustee where it believes that the claim payment causes the Member’s 

Lifetime Allowance to be exceeded. 

 
Where an annuity bureau has been selected for the Plan the Provider shall include content online that 
confirms: 

 the Trustee has selected a particular annuity bureau to assist Members in retirement decision-making; 

and  

 details of how to contact the nominated annuity bureau.  
 

While the Trustee does not require the Provider to comply with the ABI Code of Conduct on Retirement 

Choices, the Trustee acknowledges that the Provider’s standard communications shall be compliant with 

this Code and that standard communications shall be issued unless expressly agreed to the contrary with 

the Trustee. As required by Clause 5, the Trustee must ensure that it obtains the appropriate consent from 

each Member that permits the Provider to pass any data (including Personal Data) to the nominated 

annuity bureau. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction. 
 
Investment of any 
pipeline payments and 
receipt of all required 
documentation. 

A1.29.2 Not applicable  

A1.29.3 Retirement claims parameters 
 
The Provider shall: 

 allow up to two retirement claim to be made from a Retirement Account in a tax year without charge; 

 sell all or some Units in the Retirement Account and pay the value in accordance with the Trustee’s 

instructions as described in Service A1.29.1; 

 for a given tax year, monitor the number of partial retirement claims requested for a Member; and 

 reserve the right to charge a fee for processing retirement claims should the number of retirement 

claims for a Retirement Account exceed two in a tax year; 

 

Where the Provider intends to charge a fee the Provider shall: 

 notify the Trustees before processing the claim; and 

 require authorisation from the Trustees to proceed with processing the claim and applying the fee. 

 

Where the Provider does charge a fee it will be applied in accordance with the Plan Terms and Conditions. 

Receipt of authorisation 
from the Trustees to 
process a claim where 
the Provider is to charge 
a fee.  Such 
authorisation to confirm 
that the Member has 
given consent to the 
Trustees.  

P
age 109



 

12 

 

 Description (Provider Service number in brackets) Dependent on 

A1.30 Not applicable  

A1.31 Death claim 

 

The Provider shall: 

 forward any scanned copies of Expression of Wish forms it holds to the Trustee; 

 sell the Units in the Retirement Account and pay the value to the Trustee; and 

 deal with the Trustee in respect of death claims. 

Receipt of clear 
instructions from the 
Trustee. 
 
Investment of any 
pipeline payments and 
receipt of all required 
documentation. 

A1.32 Transfer claim 

 

The Provider shall sell the Units in the Retirement Account and pay the value to another registered 

arrangement in accordance with instructions from the Trustee. 

Receipt of clear 
instruction. 
 
Investment of any 
pipeline payments and 
receipt of all required 
documentation. 

A1.33 Not applicable  

A1.34 Not applicable  

A1.35 Not used  

A1.36 Not used  

A1.37 Not used  

A1.38 Not applicable  

A1.39 Not applicable  

A1.40 
 
 
 

Leaver processing  
 
When the Provider or the Platform Operator is informed that a Member has left the service of a Participating 
Employer or has ceased active membership, the Member’s payment basis shall be changed to zero and 
the Member’s status updated.  The Member shall be a Deferred Member. 
 
The Provider and the Platform Operator shall comply with the Trustee’s request not to issue leaver letters 
to Members outlining their options. 

The Provider or the 
Platform Operator being 
informed by 
Administrators, and any 
delayed processing 
trigger period agreed 
with the Trustee to 
enable any outstanding 
payments to be 
submitted.  
 

 
 

 

P
age 110



 

13 

 

Schedule 2 
(Optional Services) 

 
1.2 The Trustee may request that the Provider and/ or the Platform Operator (as applicable) perform or provides one of the Optional Services set out below. 

 
1.3 If chosen by the Trustee, the following Optional Services shall be provided by the Provider: 

 
none 

 
1.4 If chosen by the Trustee, the following Optional Services shall be provided by the Platform Operator: 

 
none 
 

1.5 The Provider and/ or the Platform Operator (as applicable) shall only commence the provision of the Optional Service when the fees and timescales 
have been agreed with the Trustee.   

 
 

P
age 111



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS BOARD 

 
27 JUNE 2018 

 
 

LOW CARBON STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 
 
 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Finance Manger – Treasury and Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper updates Members on: 

a. The Fund’s current approach to fossil fuel investment.  
b. Any possibilities for divestment in the future  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Pension Board is asked to note the recommendations approved by the   

Pensions Sub Committee: 
  

a. The Pension Fund signing up to become a member of the LAPFF. 
b. Approving a reduced fossil fuel exposure plan to be drafted along with 

the next investment strategy review in consultation with the Fund’s 
investment consultant.  
 

2.2 The committee is recommended to note:  
 

a. The Pension Fund’s current approach to fossil fuel investing. 
 
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 10



 
3 LOW CARBON STRATEGY 

 
Options for Divestment 
 

3.1 The Pension Fund requires all of its fund managers to actively engage with 
the companies they are invested in and promote good corporate governance. 

 
3.2 The Fund has the option to join the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 

(LAPFF), a pressure group organisation made up of Local Authority Pension 
Funds that seeks to lobby organisations to make better ESG decisions.   

 
3.3 The collective large equity holdings in the passive and actively managed 

funds of these LGPS funds provide significant levels of voting rights and are 
better able to influence large energy companies such as BP and Royal Dutch 
Shell. 

 
3.4 The Committee is recommended to Join the LAPFF, as doing so would allow 

the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham to engage and support the 
work of the organisation to ensure better environmental, social and 
governance decisions are taken within its portfolio. 

 
 Options for Divestment 
 
3.5 Currently, the Pension Fund’s largest allocation to fossil fuel companies 

remains in its passive equity portfolio, which is procured via the London CIV. 
 
3.6 The significant cost savings of using the London CIV mean that the Fund 

would like to remain on the passive fund platform; the London CIV currently 
does not have any passive equity trackers that exclude fossil fuels. 

 
3.7 The Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund does, however, have 

representation on a London CIV working group that has been set up to assist 
in selecting a manager who can provide a passive equity ex-fossil fuel 
mandate. Once this has been set up, it would provide a credible option for 
divesting should the Committee wish to go down this route. 

 
3.8 There is also a separate working group that has been set up specifically for 

pension fund committee members should a member of this group like to 
attend. 

 
3.9 The investment strategy statement is due for review in 2018 and the 

Committee will need to consider its future approach to fossil fuels at this time. 
It is recommended that the committee approves officers to start work with the 
Fund’s investment consultants in looking at a proposal for any divestment in 
the future as part of this investment strategy review.   

 
4 CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Not Applicable 

Page 113



 
5 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Not applicable 
 
6 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None 
 
7 FINANCE AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
8 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
8.1 Not applicable 
 
9 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
9.1 None  
 
10 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 None 
 
11 IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 

 

Description of 

Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 

Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
None 
 

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Minutes of the Pensions Sub Committee
	Minutes
	Pensions Sub-Committee Minutes - 27 February 2018
	Minutes


	6 London CIV Update
	7 London CIV Governance Review
	8 Quarterly update report
	Appendix 2 - Pension Fund
	Appendix 3 - Cashflow Forecast
	Appendix 4 - Risk Register
	Appendix 5 - Voting Summary
	Appendix 6 - Forward Plan

	9 Additional Voluntary Contribution Provider Transition Update
	Appendix 1 - Trust Announcement Letter
	Appendix 2 - Trust QA Document
	Appendix 3 - Timeline
	Appendix 4 - H&F Service Agreement 2018

	10 Low Carbon Strategy Update

